INFORMATION TO USERS

This material was produced from a microfilm copy of the original document. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or patterns which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting thru an image and duplicating adjacent pages to insure you complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a large round black mark, it is an indication that the photographer suspected that the copy may have moved during exposure and thus cause a blurred image. You will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., was part of the material being photographed the photographer followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin photoing at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue photoing from left to right in equal sections with a small overlap. If necessary, sectioning is continued again beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. The majority of users indicate that the textual content is of greatest value, however, a somewhat higher quality reproduction could be made from "photographs" if essential to the understanding of the dissertation. Silver prints of "photographs" may be ordered at additional charge by writing the Order Department, giving the catalog number, title, author and specific pages you wish reproduced.
- 5. PLEASE NOTE: Some pages may have indistinct print. Filmed as received.

University Microfilms International

300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106 USA St. John's Road, Tyler's Green High Wycombe, Bucks, England HP10 8HR

7824313

ZUPP, NANCY THORNHILL

AN ANALYSIS AND COMPARISON OF THE
CHOREOGRAPHIC PROCESSES OF ALWIN NIKOLAIS,
MURRAY LOUIS, AND PHYLLIS LAMHUT.

THE UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA AT GREENSBORO, ED.D., 1978

University
Microfilms
International 300 N. ZEEB ROAD, ANN AHBOH, MI 48106

© 1978

NANCY THORNHILL ZUPP

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

AN ANALYSIS AND COMPARISON OF THE CHORE-OGRAPHIC PROCESSES OF ALWIN NIKOLAIS, MURRAY LOUIS, AND PHYLLIS LAMHUT

by

Nancy Thornhill Zupp

A Dissertation Submitted to
the Faculty of the Graduate School of
The University of North Carolina at Greensboro
in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree
Doctor of Education

Greensboro 1978

Approved by

Dissertation Adviser

APPROVAL PAGE

This dissertation has been approved by the following committee of the Faculty of the Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Dissertation

Adviser

Origina Mooncow

Committee Members

Tomm Mallin

Date of Acceptance by Committee

Date of Final Oral Examination

ZUPP, NANCY THORNHILL. An Analysis and Comparison of the Choreographic Processes of Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis, and Phyllis Lamhut. (1978) Directed by: Virginia Moomaw. Pp. 170

The purpose of this study was to investigate what each of three professional choreographers perceived to be his choreographic process and to present an analysis and comparison of the information.

Criteria used in selection of the three subjects were established and Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis, and Phyllis Lamhut were selected as subjects for the study. The four areas of basic concern for the study were decided: tion for choreographing; creative process; use and function of the dancers; and evaluation of choreography. Questions basic to the study were determined and questions were then formulated for use in interviewing the subjects. views with each subject were taped in their New York studios and then transcribed, analyzed, discussed, and comparisons were made between the choreographic processes of the three subjects. A summary chart of each choreographer's key responses to questions basic to the study was placed in the appendices. A comparison chart of the key responses of all three subjects and a chart containing the comparative analysis of the choreographic processes of each of the subjects was placed at the conclusion of Chapter Six.

The results of the analysis and comparison of the interview responses, as they related to the four areas of basic concern to the study, revealed the similarities and differences, which follow, in the choreographic processes of Nikolais, Louis, and Lamhut.

For each of the subjects the need to create serves as the underlying motivation for his or her work. The subjects said ideas for works come from a variety of sources. Similarities in the personal and aesthetic philosophies of the subjects were discovered and, of equal import, the pervasive effects of these philosophies were apparent throughout the entire choreographic process of each subject. It was learned that each of the subjects viewed the evolving choreographic process, as well as the structure and content of the work, as being related to intuition and experience and to the inherent identity of the work. Only Lamhut will at times predetermine the structure of a piece. The subjects differed in their use of their dancers' creativity and in their expectations of their dancers in performance. Louis and Lamhut create virtually everything in their works themselves while Nikolais utilizes the improvisational resources of his dancers for movement which he structures into his works. three subjects, when soliciting creative contributions from their dancers, use a definitive approach. The subjects made similar responses in regard to the evaluation of their works. All subjects felt that the criteria used in evaluation of a work was dependent upon the artistic intuition and experience of the choreographer. All three subjects evaluate their works throughout the choreographic process and agree in their lack of concern for the opinions of critics with regard to their works.

Interview responses further indicated individual differences in the philosophical concepts that were an

integral part of each subject's work and works. While all three subjects seemed to have personal and aesthetic philosophies that related to universal concepts, there was a difference in perception of aesthetic purpose between the subjects. Nikolais views the dancer as a part of the universe and the universe is communicated to man through man. Louis views man as a conduit through which poetic illumination may occur. Lamhut views life as a comic-tragic existence, and in her works she tries to give the audience her interpretations of this existence through a kinetic-aesthetic experience.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The writer wishes to express her deep gratitude and appreciation to the following people who have contributed to the completion of this project in special ways.

A special thanks is extended to Virginia Moomaw, dissertation adviser, who has served as an unfailing source of stimulation and encouragement throughout the entire process involved in producing this product.

A special thanks is extended to Dr. Lois Andreasen, Dr. Joan Gregory, Dr. E. Doris McKinney, and Dr. Herman D. Middleton for serving as members of the advisory committee for this dissertation. Without the encouragement and support of these individuals this project could not have been completed.

Special appreciation and gratitude are expressed to the three professional choreographers who participated as subjects for the study: Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis, and Phyllis Lamhut. Without the cooperation and willingness of these three remarkable individuals this project could not have been undertaken.

The following individuals assisted the writer in a variety of ways and the writer wishes to recognize them for their contributions at this time: Phil Floyd, Michael Shisko, Letitia Griggs, Randy Fields, Linda K. Loftis, Alma Stonecypher, Allen DeLoach, Henrietta Thornhill, John Stewart, Elizabeth Mushak, Ione Carter, and Molly Zupp.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
APPROVAL PAGE	. ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. iii
LIST OF CHARTS	. vii
CHAPTER	
I. INTRODUCTION	. 1
NEED FOR THE STUDY	. 8
PURPOSE OF THE STUDY	. 9
LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	. 9
DEFINITION OF TERMS	. 10
II. PROCEDURE	. 14
CRITERIA FOR SELECTION OF THREE PROFESSIONAL CHOREOGRAPHERS	. 15
DEVELOPMENT OF THE INTERVIEW	. 16
THEORETICAL RATIONALE FOR THE STRUCTURING OF QUESTIONS BASIC TO THE STUDY	. 17
INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	. 27
TREATMENT OF THE INTERVIEW MATERIAL	. 29
SUMMARY	. 30
III. ALWIN NIKOLAIS	. 31
INTRODUCTION	. 31
MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY	. 37
CREATIVE PROCESS	. 39
USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS	. 44
EVALUATION	. 45
CONCLUSION	. 46

CHAPTER		Page
IV.	MURRAY LOUIS	48
	INTRODUCTION	48
	MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY	57
	CREATIVE PROCESS	58
	USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS	62
	EVALUATION	66
	CONCLUSION	68
v.	PHYLLIS LAMHUT	70
	INTRODUCTION	70
	MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY	75
	CREATIVE PROCESS	76
	USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS	80
	EVALUATION	80
	CONCLUSION	83
VI.	COMPARISONS	85
	MOTIVATION	86
	Reason for Choreographing Personal and Aesthetic Philosophies	86 86
	CONCLUSION	87
	CREATIVE PROCESS	88
	Source of Ideas	88 89 90 93
	EFFECTS OF DEADLINES	97
	Progression or Sequence of Choreographing.	98
	USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS	100
	Non Choreographic Contributions by Dancers	101

Pag	зe
EVALUATION	2
Evaluation as an Artistic Responsibility 104	2 1
	5
CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY	5
COMPARISON CHART OF KEY RESPONSES BY NIKOLAIS, LOUIS AND LAMHUT TO QUESTIONS BASIC TO THE STUDY	7
COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE CHOREOGRAPHIC PROCESSES OF NIKOLAIS, LOUIS AND LAMHUT 125	5
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	5
PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND	5
PROCEDURES USED IN THE STUDY 136	5
CONCLUSIONS	3
IMPLICATIONS	3
RAPHY)
ES)
win Nikolais' Responses to Basic Questions 15	L
erray Louis' Responses to Basic Questions 158	3
yllis Lamhut's Responses to Basic Questions 165	5
	EVALUATION

LIST OF CHARTS

Cha	rt		Page
	1.	Comparison Chart of Key Responses by Nikolais, Louis and Lamhut to Questions Basic to the Study	107
	2.	Comparative Analysis of the Choreographic Processes of Nikolais, Louis and Lamhut	125

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Modern Dance is the product of more than fifty years of kinesthetic and choreographic experimentation. The art is steeped in a tradition of individuality, and because of its individuality possesses a degree of vitality that can only result from constant searching, probing and questioning. It is a unique art form because it deals with human movement and, through movement, with man's struggle to communicate his innermost thoughts (Byrum, 113).

Richard Kraus, the author of <u>History of the Dance</u>, defines the uniqueness of Modern Dance in this statement:

. . . this highly individual form of artistic expression began as a rejection of what its advocates saw as the formalism and sterility of traditional ballet. Today, it still places emphasis on the artistic expression of the individual performer, and lacks a single approach to technique; however, its practitioners range from those who accept ballet as an indispensible form of training to highly avant-garde practitioners who, in performance at least, appear to be concerned with non-dance. (36:3)

The rising status of Modern Dance is the result of many factors. Acceptance of the art form has been encouraged by national and state legislation which has made dance a viable commodity for audiences and aspiring dancers throughout the entire country. This increase in availability and exposure has led educators to place increased value

on dance and to accept it as a part of the curriculum. The acceptance of dance as a viable means of developing creative potential has pointed to the need for more in depth study of the choreographic process. It has become readily apparent that the quest for greater understanding of the choreographic process must begin with an attempt to define the art form, the product and the process (Byrum, 113).

In an attempt to define the art form as a whole, author Elizabeth R. Hayes has written: "Modern Dance is an art form in which movement is consciously used to express ideas, feelings, and emotions for their communication." (25:66)

Dance educator Margery J. Turner wrote:

Modern or contemporary, dance is an art form that uses movement as a medium of expression. It is the result of intentional ordering of movement by a choreographer. The movement is created in response to the re-experiencing of emotional values, which are thus given a new existence. The expressive movement is highly selected, spatially designed, and organized through rhythmic structure; the result is the communication of an idea, mood, feeling, state, or situation. (68:1)

Philosopher Susanne K. Langer, in her work <u>Problems</u> of Art, stated:

The dance is an appearance; if you like, an apparition. It springs from what the dancers do, yet it is something else. . . A dance, like any other work of art, is a perceptible form that expresses the nature of human feeling. . . . What is expressed in a dance is an idea . . . (42:33)

Dance Educator Nancy Smith stated: "Dance has always been a way of casting feeling into form, and conversely, of revealing the form and shape of a feeling or experience." (109:8-9)

While dance educators and dance philosophers find it difficult to agree on a single, all-inclusive definition of dance as an art form, there also seems to be equal lack of agreement on a definition of the product itself. Choreographer Alwin Nikolais in an interview for <u>Dance Perspectives</u> thinks of the product of dance as illusion. He said:

"Motion is the illusion created by movement. And dance is illusion at its purest." (107:44)

In her book, <u>Problems of Art</u>, Langer also considers that dances are created for perception. She said: "What dancers create is a dance; and a dance is an apparition of active powers, <u>a dynamic image</u>." (42:5)

Non-literalist choreographer Erick Hawkins, in a discussion based on the work of F.S.C. Northrop, the author of The Meeting of East and West, said:

When the choreographer presents movement in and for its own sake, he is not communicating. He is then not using the movement as a language. He is not "saying" something. The movement just "is". This difficult innocence of the pure fact of movement just "being" in and for itself, before it communicates, yields that strange holy center that is the only thing we know about being alive. Such movement has its own significant purpose of filling the audience with wonder and delight, and that is very special and very perfect and more valuable than anything in the world. But it is not communication. It is before and beyond communication. It simply is! (18:47-48)

Choreographer Donald McKayle in a discussion of his work has said:

In my own work, I always demand a certain vibrancy, an inner vitality that communicates through the viscera, not the mind. While the mind is never dormant, it does not hold sway in all areas, and definitely should not in dance. The senses must be reached before the mind. The reflection afterward, which is then basically a process of the mind, should—if the experience has been meaningful—once more awaken this sensory network. This is what I aim for in my dances, whether they have definite plots or are more abstract in concept. (18:55-57)

While the definition of the art form as a whole, as well as the definition of the product itself, falls under the jurisdiction of various writers and artists, even more confusion and less information is available to those who would delve into the creative process itself. One may be forced to view a broad spectrum of fields in order to find similar threads that have led to the unraveling of creative processes in areas with problems similar to those involved in choreography.

jects and of approaches to the subjects signifies a widening range of interest in the significance of the subject.

Perhaps people are just now becoming aware of the importance of creativity for solutions to the problems faced by mankind. These problems are perceived as the result of man's creativeness. Therefore, solutions must be found in the same source—man himself. If solutions are to be found, creativeness must be studied and understood as a trait that can be developed and used in all areas of endeavor by a greater proportion of the population.

Man, it seems, cannot avoid some thought about the nature of creativity if he is to live a richer life. Whether he does this consciously or subconsciously, he strives to know the deeper workings of the world and himself; he struggles to gain richer returns within his world. This struggle of the thoughtful man will eventually lead him to ask certain questions. As summarized by researchers Mooney (1967), Razik (1967), Gutman (1961), and Brittain and Beittel (1960), these questions generally fall into the following categories: How does creation go? What is its structure? How can I discover this? How can I further this knowledge? How will this knowledge, applied to my particular field of endeavor, have an impact on mankind? (51)

The following ideas quoted from Mooney and Razik (51:1&2) on the nature of creativity, illustrate the diversity of disciplines and thinking on the subject:

Herbert Gutman, a genetic psychologist, asks how man is made by nature so he can behave creatively. How did man evolve? What does this mean for cultivating further growth in man?

Lawrence Kubie, a psychiatrist working with adults, asks how the creative system works in man to heal him when he is sick: What is the system the doctor needs to keep in mind when trying to help the healing process work?

Abraham Maslow, a clinical psychologist working with highly developed adults, asks how maturation proceeds when men mature into their best: What is the system that operates in such a case? Wherein lies creativeness?

Donald MacKinnon, a research psychologist working with highly creative writers, asks what the makeup is

for those who succeed in making of themselves a creative source for expression in the written word: How are they able to produce a continued flow of fresh and vital stuff?

Carson McGuire, an educational psychologist working with students, states that creativeness is found more fully formed in some students than in others. What is the makeup of those students who are more fully formed than those less so?

Lambert Brittain from the field of child development, and Kenneth Beittel from the field of art education, ask what the distinguishing marks are for those students whose art products are the more creative: What may be inferred as to the nature of creativity when trusting to the product to provide the prime initial cue?

J. P. Guilford, a research psychologist working with adults, asks what "intelligence" becomes when it includes capacity for creative thought: What abilities are then required? Where do they fit in a total system for the intellect? (51:1&2)

In his article "Creativity," which appeared in the American Psychologist, Guilford has written:

Creative behavior is thought to be spontaneous, innerdirected and generally not capable of being elicited at will. However, there are contradictions to this premise in almost every art form. Writers, architects, painters, and choreographers, as well as countless others who by profession are creators, serve as obvious examples of creative individuals who can and do elicit their creative behaviors at will. These individuals have spurred psychologists, as well as other scientific researchers, to seek means other than those experimental and statistical by which to verify their findings concerning creative behavior.

been confined to three aspects of the subject: its phenomenal side, productive thinking or problem-solving, and the composition of the trait of creativity. The methods of investigation applied in these various studies appear to be correspondingly descriptive, experimental, and statistical. Attempts at interpretation are found in all three approaches: in the first, in terms of psychological dynamics; in the second, in terms of mental

processes; and in the third, in terms of factoral-analysis. (90:444&445)

Once again science has pointed the way for researchers to explore vital areas of knowledge and behaviors that should shed some light on educational processes.

Interest in developing choreographic skills or abilities has led this writer to the idea of investigating the creative or choreographic processes of three professional choreographers. This investigation was carried on to provide information related to choreographic processes that should be helpful in the attempt to develop greater choreographic skills, ability and maturity.

Specific information obtained from choreographers who have proven themselves capable of producing, on a continuing basis, works of high artistic standards and quality should go far in answering the novice choreographers' questions: How does one begin to make a dance? How does one proceed? How does one decide which materials to include? How does one decide when the dance is finished?

In order to become involved in the choreographic process, the choreographer must bring to the task a degree of aesthetic discipline, physical technique sufficient for control, and a basic knowledge of the craft of choreography. He must be viewed as a potential artist with accepted creative potential if he is not yet in the category of an artist. He must be provided the opportunity to experience and participate in dance as an aesthetic art form. The

ensuing result of this multilevel experience or exposure would be to enable the choreographer to create works which are characterized by his own individuality.

One must understand the process of choreographing a dance in order to facilitate this expression of individuality. Since the process of choreographing a dance differs with each choreographer, one should be exposed to as many diverse processes as possible. This exposure should be helpful in the attempt to discover or develop one's own unique creative process.

NEED FOR THE STUDY

There has been a great deal written about dance.

Most of the material is historical in nature and deals with the religious, social, educational or artistic purposes of the art form (14, 17, 18, 20, 24, 25, 26, 28, 29, 30, 32, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 52, 68). Another significant portion of the literature treats the lives and careers of famous dancers (17, 32, 45, 46, 47, 48, 61, 73, 74, 77, 81, 82, 83, 84, 87, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 101, 102, 103, 107, 108, 110, 111). The biographical sources tend to serve as mere recordings or observations of works and do not go into the processes involved in choreographing dances. Often works of this nature emphasize the performer rather than the choreographer. The books written for dance educators are not extensive in number and most include chapters on choreographic

form or techniques for improvisational study (14, 20, 24, 25, 26, 28, 29, 30, 38, 39, 43, 54, 68, 69). With only this limited information, the inexperienced choreographer still faces the questions: What process should I follow in order to produce my choreography? Where do I begin? How do I proceed?

Specific information obtained from professional choreographers who have developed proven choreographic processes demonstrated in works of consistently high artistic standards and quality should prove helpful in answering the questions of the aspiring choreographer.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study was to interview three professional choreographers asking the questions stated in Chapter II and to discuss, analyze and compare what each of the subjects felt to be his creative or choreographic processes.

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study was to interview three professional choreographers and present what each believes to be his choreographic process. The investigator felt that a study in greater depth would be possible if the three subjects had certain factors in common. Nikolais, Louis, and Lamhut have a great deal in common due to their years of

professional association, yet each has maintained his individuality in the creative or choreographic aspects of his work. The factors they have in common include a common dance vocabulary, a sense of space that has been influenced by the Germanic school via Wigman and Holm, a respect for improvisational training for their dancers and a mutual respect for intuitive continence in relation to form and evaluation. The investigator had known and worked with each of the three subjects in professional situations prior to this study, and each of the three subjects had expressed a willingness to participate in a study of this nature.

DEFINITION OF TERMS

Terms used in a special way in this study are defined as follows:

- 1. Abstract: The development of an idea, concept or movement in non literal or non figurative terms.
- 2. Aesthetic: A sensed perception utilized by the artist in dealing with the nature of beauty or "fit" in judgements relating to his own artistic or creative works.
- 3. Affective stimuli: The stimuli primarily stemming from the attitudes, values and feelings of an individual.
- 4. Bravura: A descriptive term used by Louis to describe one kind of choreography which he has produced. It refers to a pretentious display that requires a dashing and brilliant execution and a daring style or form.

- 5. Choreographic intent: The purpose of the choreographer might be to produce a work that the audience will respond to in a specific way or it could be to produce a work that has no specific purpose other than simply to be.
- 6. Choreographic process: This term refers to the total process that is required to create a dance.
- 7. Cognitive stimuli: Factors related to knowledge or factual information leading to simple and complex mental operations. Webster (118) states that "cognition . . . the act or process of knowing including both awareness and judgement; also: a product of this act--."
- 8. Concept related factors: Pertaining to the idea of the artist or the work.
- 9. Continence: Used by Louis and Nikolais to indicate "the sense of balance," that they feel is inherent in the artist and is that aesthetic sense that enables the artist to evaluate his works. Also used by Louis to mean, "flow."
- 10. Creative process: Refers to the activities or organizing behaviors of the choreographer that result in the objective expression of the idea of the creator in the form of a dance.

- 11. Development factors: Pertaining to the conscious or subconscious elements affecting the actual creation of the work or the working process of the choreographer as the work evolves.
- 12. Dynamics: The degree of force or energy used in the execution of a movement.
- 13. Energy: As used by Murray Louis is similar to dynamics.
- 14. Environmental stimuli: The factors arising from the immediate surroundings or the external collective circumstances. These stimuli may emanate from the real world or may be effected by the choreographer.
- 15. Filmic: As used by Alwin Nikolais refers to the use of projections as a means of changing the environmental setting within a dance.
- 16. Internal stimuli: Those factors emmanating from within the person. These may be mental, emotional, or kinetic in nature, but they are the product of one's own personality.
- 17. Kinetic-kinesthetic factors/elements: The factors/
 elements arising from motion potential or from the
 sensory awareness of one's body in motion or the ability
 to see the body of another person in motion and respond
 emphatically with one's own muscles.
- 18. Motion: Pertaining to the illusion that is produced by movement.
- 19. Movement: Pertaining to that which is produced by physical activity.

- 20. Poetic works: As used by Murray Louis describes one kind of choreography which he has produced. It refers to a metaphorical use of content by the choreographer in a composition.
- 21. Preliminary factors: The conscious or subconscious elements affecting the artist during periods of creative incubation or during periods just prior to beginning work on a new piece of choreography.
- 22. Process related factors: Pertaining to the work involved in actualizing the artistic product.
- 23. X Factors: As used by Phyllis Lamhut refers to the unknown artistic elements such as timing and talent and aesthetic awareness.

CHAPTER II

PROCEDURE

The extensive growth and development of modern dance is a direct result of the dedication and creative abilities of the professional dancer-choreographers who nurtured the art form in its infancy and promulgated its value as a viable means of creative and artistic expression. Through the efforts of the professional dancer-choreographers, dance spread through the educational programs in this country and rapidly grew into an academically respected art form. This rapid assimilation into academe gave modern dance broad-based exposure and resulted in the grassroots interest that was needed for its widespread support and consequent growth.

While the growth and acceptance of the fledgling art form occurred in a relatively short time, there was no compromise on the part of the professional dancer-choreographers in their dedication to the highest standards of choreographic excellence and performance quality. The consistently high standards of the professional dancer-choreographers served as a guiding influence to dance educators in their attempts to keep abreast of a growing and changing field. The eclectic nature of the art form and the sweeping transformations that it constantly undergoes ensure its immediacy

and therefore its value as an art form capable of serving the artistic and aesthetic needs of contemporary society.

Dance educators have come to realize that dance has a clear-cut need for precise, scholarly research, and investigation in all areas. With so little information available on the creative or choreographic process, the writer decided to investigate this particular area.

Initially it was deemed necessary to search the literature of somewhat similar areas in an attempt to discover approaches that had proved useful to researchers. It was discovered that one common approach to the investigation of creative processes was the identification of recognized professionals in the field in question and subsequent interviews of these individuals about their own perceptions of their creative processes (Anderson: 1; Jenkins: 31; Kneller: 33; Schaeffer-Simmern: 58;). This method of inquiry was deemed appropriate for the investigation of each of three professional choreographers' creative processes.

CRITERIA FOR SELECTION OF THREE PROFESSIONAL CHOREOGRAPHERS

The criteria for selection of three professional choreographers for the purpose of interviewing them and presenting what each of the three believes to be his choreographic process is stated below:

 Each is recognized and accepted by the general public and by dancers as an outstanding artistchoreographer.

- 2. Each is articulate as evidenced by his or her lectures and/or writings or by the writings of others based on interviews with the subject.
- 3. The subjects should have a degree of commonality in background, training or dance vocabulary in order to facilitate the comparison and analysis of responses.

The three professional choreographers whose inclusion was based on the stated rationale for selection of subjects and who expressed a willingness to participate in the study were Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis, and Phyllis Lamhut.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE INTERVIEW

The following process was used in the development of questions for the interview:

- 1. Resources pertaining to the study of the creative processes of artistic and scientific subjects in comparable studies were researched.
- A study of resources pertaining to the use of interview techniques as research methods was conducted.
- 3. Resources pertaining to the biographical and career-related information of each of the three subjects were researched.
- 4. Significant information pertaining to the choreographic process was researched and the findings

served as the basis for structuring the theoretical rationale utilized in the formulation of the questions basic to the study, in the formulation of the interview questions and in the analyses of the information.

The questions used in interviewing the choreographers may be found on page 27 of the study. The questions were augmented during the interviews as the development of the situation indicated. The interviews were taped in the New York Studio of each subject, and an analysis and comparison were made of each choreographer's responses.

THEORETICAL RATIONALE FOR THE STRUCTURING OF QUESTIONS BASIC TO THE STUDY

Prior to the structuring of the interview questions, four main areas of the subject pertinent to the study were selected for inquiry. It was felt that each of the areas selected would be pertinent to the study of the choreographic process of professional choreographers. The four main areas selected were:

Motivation for choreography

Creative process

Use and function of the dancers

Evaluation

In the following presentation, each question basic to the study is stated with its underlying rationale.

I. Motivation

A. QUESTION: Why did the subjects choreograph?

RATIONALE: Factors related to the artist's views of why he choreographs may influence his process either positively or negatively.

B. QUESTION: What were their personal philosophies and did they affect their choreography in the areas of subject matter, content, creative process, use of dancers and evaluation?

RATIONALE: As the work unfolds, factors related to the underlying concept or idea for the dance come into focus. These factors may be related to the choreographer's philosophic views and they therefore become inherent in the concept or idea for the work and in the content of the work. It is also plausible that these factors may affect the choreographer's creative process as well as his use of his dancers and finally his evaluation.

C. QUESTION: What were their aesthetic philosophies and did they affect their choreography in the areas of subject matter, content, creative process, use of dancers and evaluation?

RATIONALE: As the work evolves, factors related to the underlying aesthetic purpose of the choreographer in creating the dance come into focus. Here again, these factors may be related to the choreographer's philosophic views, and they in turn become inherent in the idea and content of the work. It is also plausible that these factors may affect the choreographer's creative process, his use of his dancers and finally his evaluation of the work.

D. QUESTION: Was there a relationship between their personal and aesthetic philosophies?

RATIONALE: The aesthetic purpose or intent of the choreographer's work is frequently related to his philosophic view of choreography, yet his aesthetic philosophy must be focused on the current work he is undertaking. As the work evolves it is possible that the aesthetic purpose or intent of the choreographer will assume a different focus from that which the choreographer originally

envisioned. If finished work is dependent upon the choreographer's philosophical and aesthetic views, then the result may be related, or totally unrelated, to either the preliminary idea of the work or the ongoing development and subsequent identity assumed by the work.

II. Creative Process

A. QUESTION: Where did the ideas or subject matter

of their dances originate? Did the idea or subject matter come before the creative process, during the creative process, or after a portion or all of the work was completed?

RATIONALE: The attempt to identify the choreog-

rapher's source or sources of ideas
for his creative works dealt with
the personal cognitive and affective
possibilities as well as with external
and abstract possibilities for idea
sources. This was done in anticipation of the multiple response possibilities in this question. Inquiry
into the matter of when the idea was

introduced into the working process
was meant to reveal the importance or
impact of the idea upon the overall
choreographic process.

B. QUESTION: What preparation was made for choreographing?

RATIONALE: Identification of the preliminary factors that the choreographer found helpful or necessary in his approach to his creative process could prove valuable to this study. A wide variety of response possibilities were apparent.

C. QUESTION: How and when was the structure of the work determined? Was it determined before, during or after a portion or all of the work was completed?

RATIONALE: The philosophic views of the choreographer obviously affect this aspect of his creative process. It was conceivable that the choreographer would work from the standpoint of a preconceived form, and it was equally conceivable that the structure of the work would emerge as the work evolved.

D. QUESTION: What served as the source of the movement patterns? What was the relationship

of the movement to: subject matter or idea; design elements, i.e., line, shape, mass, etc.; dynamics; space; sets or projections; time elements; and dancer to dancer or dancers?

RATIONALE: Insight into the source of movement patterns should lead to the crux of the choreographer's creative substance.

It should be revealing in terms of the philosophic relationship of the idea and the content of the product. The relationship of the source of the movement patterns to the elements of the choreographic craft utilized in a particular work could reveal internal or external factors affecting the choreographer in his creative process.

RATIONALE: The pressure of time has a varying effect upon creative individuals.

This effect may be either a positive or negative influence on the choreographer who is involved in his creative process. It is also possible that the time factor does not affect the creative process of the choreographers in any way.

F. QUESTION: What sequence or progression was followed in making dances?

RATIONALE: Insight into the sequence or progression of the form and content of the work in progress should reveal meaningful information relating to the effects of the choreographer's philosophical views as they have impact on the structure and content of the finished artistic product.

G. QUESTION: Does the choreographic process outlined above relate to the personal and aesthetic philosophies of the choreographers?

RATIONALE: Inherent within the choreographic process are the factors that influence the choreographers. These factors include cognitive, affective, kinetic and environmental elements. Each of these factors should be able to be traced to the philosophic views of the choreographers.

III. Use and Function of the Dancers

A. QUESTION: Did the dancers contribute creatively to the work?

RATIONALE: For some choreographers, the creative contributions of the dancers are important factors in developing the movement and structural content of a work.

For other choreographers, this factor might not affect the development of the work. It would seem that the philosophical stance of the individual choreographer would have direct bearing upon this aspect of his creative process.

B. QUESTION: What contributions other than creativity were expected of the dancers? What
was expected of the dancers in terms of
performance?

RATIONALE: It seemed possible that some choreographers might ask their dancers for materials of a source nature at times while other choreographers might not find this kind of assistance from the dancers valuable. It was felt that the specific performance requirements of the choreographers might shed some light on matters of choreographic approach or process development. Certainly, the findings here should prove

related to the philosophies of the choreographers.

C. QUESTION: Were the use and function of the dancers related to the choreographers' personal or aesthetic philosophies?

RATIONALE: It was expected that the use and function of the dancers would be related to the personal or aesthetic philosophies of each choreographer.

IV. Evaluation

A. QUESTION: When do they evaluate the structure of the dance? If evaluation occurs during the creative process, how often does it occur? Do they evaluate only when they have completed the dance?

What are the considerations when evaluating?

RATIONALE: It was felt that information relating
to when each choreographer evaluated
his work and the considerations each
used in evaluating his work would be
of value in the attempt to understand
the choreographic process of each subject and would provide additional information concerning the relationship

of the individual's philosophy to his work-in-process and to his evaluative approach.

B. QUESTION: What is the artistic responsibility of the choreographer? Does he evaluate alone or have others involved in the evaluations?

RATIONALE: It would seem that each choreographer would have definite ideas concerning his aesthetic responsibility in relation to the evaluation of his work.

Whether the choreographer accepts the full artistic responsibility for the evaluation of his works or whether he seeks the opinions of others involved in the creative process would seem to be a matter of philosophy.

C. QUESTION: Do they change their choreography on the basis of audience reaction or critical reviews? If so, when, and if not, why?

RATIONALE: The responses to this question should verify the choreographers' philosophical beliefs and should prove very revealing in terms of effect on the creative process.

D. QUESTION: Are these points on evaluation related to personal and/or aesthetic philosophies?

RATIONALE: It was felt that these points would relate to the personal and/or aesthetic philosophies of the subjects and would serve as a reinforcing factor in the observation of the choreographic process of each choreographer.

Based on the foregoing Rationale, the following questions were formulated and structured into the interviews:

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

- 1. Why does the professional choreographer create?
- What is your purpose or intent for the work you as a choreographer are creating? Is your purpose or intent related to communication, stimulation, entertainment, propaganda, psychotherapy, etc.?
- 3. Is it possible for you to identify factors or situations which serve as creative stimuli or motivational factors for you? If so, are these internal or external factors?
- 4. How important, if at all, is it to you that your dancers be creative as well as technically competent? Do you allow or encourage your dancers to make suggestions when you are choreographing? If so, when? If not, why not? Do you plan the entire work and then mount it, or do you

- explain what you want and have your dancers explore the movement possibilities?
- 5. As you create a dance, do you find your aesthetic evaluation is constant, or do you function best when you evaluate only at given intervals or at the end of a completed section?
- 6. Whom do you, as a professional artist, find best suited to serve as your confidante, critic or sounding board while you are involved in creating a new work?
- 7. What evaluative criteria do you utilize while creating a dance? Do you consider at any point in your choreographic process the opinion of the audience-to-be, or the possible reaction of critics, or the strengths or limitations of your company members, or the boundaries imposed by a given musical score, or limitations of time intervals? If so, how do these affect the process? If not, why not?
- 8. Some investigators of the creative process in various other art forms have found that artists are able to divide their creative process into specific parts such as inspiration, incubation, illumination, etc. Others report that their subjects ascribe to the "ghost that whispers in my ear theory," or the "shazam theory," as the source of creative inspiration. Can you share with us your own view of your creative process or experience? Is it inspired? Is it induced by logic? Is it predictable?

- Is it unpredictable? Does it follow a set pattern? Is it orderly? Can you control the process or does it seem to flow of its own accord and in its own time?
- 9. As the choreographic process evolves, what do you perceive as primary factors affecting the process itself?
- 10. What physical situation or setting do you find most desirable when you are creating a dance? Do you work best while alone, with others, etc.? Do you work better under the pressure of a deadline or at your leisure? What time of the day do you find most conducive to your creative work?
- 11. What effect, if any, does the choreographic process have on you physically, mentally and emotionally? Do you lose track of time, do you push for closure, do you have a preoccupation with the work in progress, etc.?
- 12. How do you determine the structure of your works?
- 13. How do you go about the business of making a dance? Do you plan the entire work and then mount it, or do you explain what you want and have your dancers explore the movement possibilities?
- 14. How do you initiate the choreographic process?

TREATMENT OF THE INTERVIEW MATERIAL

The three choreographers were interviewed in their New York studios. Each interview was taped and then transcribed. The quoted expressions and statements in the study

are basically unaltered for the purpose of retaining the subjects' nuances of emphasis and meaning for potential reanalysis. Each of the transcripts was analyzed, using the questions basic to the study as stated on pages 18 through 27.

SUMMARY

In Chapter I literature was reviewed to illustrate the importance and difficulty of defining Modern Dance or Dance as an art form and to illustrate the difficulty in defining the product of the choreographer. Literature concerned with the nature of creative acitivity in many disciplines was also presented to illustrate the divergent interest in the study of the creative process.

Chapter II presented the questions basic to the study. Chapter III, IV, and V present the answers given by Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis and Phyllis Lamhut to the questions basic to the study. Unless otherwise noted all quoted information presented in the subsequent chapters of the study was obtained from taped interviews with the subjects.

CHAPTER III

ALWIN NIKOLAIS

INTRODUCTION

Since the late 1950's Alwin Nikolais has been noted for a new kind of dance theater which is almost completely abstract in terms of dramatic content but which represents a unique and imaginative fusing of sound, color, light, unusual props, shapes, and movement into what he terms his total theater concept of dance. Nikolais is an accomplished musician, former dancer, technical wizard, teacher par excellence, and innovative choreographer. He ranks among the most outstanding choreographers and dance innovators to come out of the American modern dance scene.

The strength of the Germanic influence of Hanya Holm is still evident in his most recent choreographic works. He frequently alludes to the impact of his Germanic training on his works and his creative process. (47)

In the late 1940's, Nikolais took over as the director of the Henry Street Settlement House and developed a strong modern dance program. His work included developing a company that performed children's works, establishing a strong teaching program in modern dance, and eventually developing his own performing company that is still in

existence. He has performed his works virtually all over the world. He has appeared at several international festivals and has had a number of commissions for choreography from various universities and foundations. Nikolais has reached a multitude through his several appearances on national television programs; he has been the subject of numerous articles and publications and has lectured on dance extensively. He is without a doubt a major influence in dance today. (47)

Nikolais' early training in dance included study with Wigman trained dancer, Truda Kaschmann, as well as with Doris Humphrey, Charles Weidman, Martha Graham, and Hanya Holm. He is particularly fascinated with the theories and concepts of Holm and feels that he owes much credit to her for his development as a dancer and as a choreographer.

The dominant influence of his Germanic training is still apparent in the work of this aesthetic revolutionary. Patricia Rowe has summarized this influence in her statement: "Certainly both Wigman's and Holm's philosophies regarding total theatre and the ordering and attention given to space as a key element of dance rubbed off on Nikolais." (115:183)

Certainly an artist of this caliber should provide valuable information on the choreographic process for students of the subject. For this reason Nikolais was selected as a subject for this study.

Nik, as he is called by those who know him both as a person and an artist, is a man of distinguished presence

and dynamic energy. In conversation one is immediately aware of his intellectual brilliance and of a vast reserve of philosophic strength born of the artist's struggle to come to grips with his own creative dimensions.

In 1971, <u>Dance Perspectives</u> published an issue entitled "Nik: A Documentary," in which Nikolais outlined what he felt to be the evolution of his aesthetic philosophy. The following is a summary of his statements in the article:

First came the annoyance with the self-expression rampant in the late 40s. The self as the sole germinal point of all value. . . . There was little acknowledgement of external source or heritage. . . .

I found myself realizing a new philosophy and consequently creating new techniques. Perhaps it was that I had the philosophy but had to clarify it to myself. I recognized the pattern of religious dynamics—particularly in the Christian belief where man, built in the image of a god, created a direct line of energy from that concept—there was an imagined spiritual umbilical cord nourishing him. . . . He built life on this basis and created arts despite it.

It was Darwin who cut this cord. . . . Man did not realize that instead of being the embodiment of . . . god, he was for the first time given not only a foot upon the earth, but a place within the sun--and more importantly, an entity--albeit a microscopic one--in the universe. Man's definition changed--his energy and life source were re-routed. . . he had only himself

If Darwin ruined man's concept of his divinity, Freud gave the final blow by exposing his uglies. With ties to god cut, now his self-expression had no parentage other than his personal itch. He turned his reverence to himself--uglies and all. Again art happened despite this. Man was now stuck with a sex-dominated libido. He was now man-god-self-important-inviolable the thing from which all blessings flow.

With Einstein, again life dynamics changed. The circuitry again repatterned-but whereas before there

were semi-permanent patterns, now the patterns changed to suit the venture. Man was permitted variable vistas

The dance period immediately following the Hitler war was characterized mainly by a search for new or larger abstraction. Generally dance was relieved of narrative and the earlier forms of dancey-dance. But no matter what forms it took generally, it still held on to the human vision—and, of course, the Nureyev complex [Focus on the glory of an individual]

It is not that I don't believe in hero identification, even Nureyev--but I wanted man to be able to identify with things other than himself. This is the day of ecological and environmental visions. We must give up our navel contemplations long enough to take our place in space.

My total theater concept consciously started about 1950, although the seeds of it began much earlier I'm sure. First was expansion. I used masks and props—the masks, to have the dancer become something else; and props, to extend his physical size in space. . . . I began to see the potentials of this new creature and in 1952 produced a program called Masks Props & Mobiles. I began to establish my philosophy of man being a fellow traveller within the total universal mechanism rather than the god from which all things flowed. The idea was both humiliating and grandizing. He lost his domination but instead became kinsman to the universe. . .

With the breakdown of story-line, choreographic structure necessarily changed. With the further breakdown of physical centralization -- the lid was off. Logic of metronomic and sun time was no longer necessary. no longer had to support logical realistic events. too could be decentralized but more importantly, breaking the barrier of literal time throws the creator into visions and possible motional itineraries way beyond the literal visions (particularly if physical emphasis is subdued). The time-space canvas was now free. ecology of the space canvas now could be balanced. Now we are permitted visions into the world in which we live and perhaps even into the universe. We might even, then, return to the vision of self but placed more humbly into the living landscape, adding grandeur to vision of self. . .as consonant members of the environment -- enriched by the resonance of that which surrounds us, a shared energy interplaying with vital discussions rather than domineering argument.

First I had destroyed the fetish of the narrative and realism. Then I began a 3-dimensional environmental lighting instead of the usual overhead-comes from above!—kind of lighting. This overhead lighting was not only a matter of convenience for the dramatic theater; there was also a kind of rationale about the sun and moon overhead—as well as warm direct light—cold reflected light. The floor and the head of the performer received most of its blessings.

With floor lighting I was able not only to light the figures without over-illuminating the floor, I was able to make quick color changes. This led obviously to designs of light--not only on the body but upon the environment.

Along with all of this came the tape recorder, and electronics of a nature to fit into the new stage dimensions of audio-visual impacts. The creative drive of both the artist and the engineer resulted from accumulations of knowledge, new discoveries, new relationships and curiosities....Despite my dedicated belief that dance is basically the art of motion I could not resist my curiosity to explore motion happening in different aspects of light and sound. So actually the examples of "pure dance" in my chronology of creations are rare. But the understanding of this basis gave me a much broader palette than I might otherwise have had. My rationalizations included some realistic considerations. example human vision requires an object to emit or reflect light if it is to be seen. Because the human does not emit light, to make him visible some light source has to be aimed at him. Because light comes in an infinite variety of ways, I could select sources that would most effectively illuminate the dancer & his environment. this became more than just illumination -- it became selected & controlled design.

. . . Next was a desire for color. . . . My closest contact to any transparent color paper was lollypop wrappings. . . . By this time I was the Belasco of Southington. McCandless' theory of natural light—hot on one side—cold on the other—was not for me. Where my lights were placed depended on how much cord I could afford.

Now I carry more than one ton of electrical equipment—but aside from the projected designs it does no more than my tin cans, brine & lollypop papers in Southington. (107:9-17)

Nikolais' practical sense and his insatiable curiosity have served him well in his evolution as an aesthetic
revolutionary. These same qualities plus his keenly analytical mind have enabled him to cut through confusing theories
and endless jargon to formulate in simple terms his own
definition of dance:

As art - dance is the art of motion, not movement.
. . (107:22)

Dancers often get into the pitfall of emotion rather than motion. To me motion is primary - it is the condition of motion which culminates into emotion. In other words it is our success or failure in action in time and space which culminates in emotion. . . . We do not have to be educated to understand the abstract language of motion, for motion is the stuff with which our every moment of life is preciously concerned. So in the final analysis the dancer is a specialist in the sensitivity to, the perception and the skilled execution of motion. Not movement but rather the qualified itinerary en route. (107:20-21)

In his choreography, Nikolais attempts to create a three-dimensional environment in which motion creates illusion which is metaphoric. His works do not tell stories. His works transcend the literal; and by the masterful and precise integration of motion, light, color, projections, costumes, properties, decor and appendages to the dancers he achieves the metaphoric language that communicates an abstract Gestalt in terms of total, dynamic dance theater.

The preceding discussions attest to the choreographic expertise of a unique artist whose analytical and perceptive abilities have led to the development of sound artistic principles and a firmly grounded philosophy. The question

remaining is this: What choreographic process does the artist use in order to produce a total theatre work?

Nikolais feels that he has been involved in various kinds of creative activities throughout his entire life. (121) This creative activity was not discouraged by his parents, nor was it the product of any special training in his early years. Instruction in the arts was not available to him as a child growing up in a rural town. Yet when the opportunity to study the performing arts presented itself, he was quick to take advantage of the opportunity. Of this period, he said:

Whenever anything passed through [town] that allowed me to take part in the study of performing arts I always engaged myself that way. I then created the habit of creating for performance and I never got out of it. (121)

Nikolais feels that his early habit of creating was done in the spirit of play; it later became serious giving his creativity purpose.

The following is the result of the information gathered in the investigator's interview with Alwin Nikolais:

MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY

Nikolais feels that for him creating is a habit and is based on a felt need to communicate aesthetically. He is very conscious that:

. . . communication takes place through motion and the work is something that you are trying to say to someone who receives the thing through sight or hearing. The communication is an aesthetic one, it isn't a recreation; it is a creation. It must always be looked at from the aesthetic point of view. (121)

His personal philosophy, which he feels is the basis for all of his work, is the belief that:

Man is a fellow traveller within the total universal mechanism rather than a god from which all things flow. Man is a kinsman to the universe. Man is a part of the total universe. (121)

He views his aesthetic philosophy as being the direct result of his personal philosophy. This direct relationship is clearly visible throughout his entire discussion of his aesthetic philosophy. He says, "The dancer must subdue himself as an individual and becomes greater by becoming a part of a much greater thing." (121) He feels that man must function within the total environment as a vital part of the universal totality.

For Nikolais:

. . . aesthetic communication takes place through motion or in terms of abstract theatre the way I do it. As an art, dance is the art of motion, not movement. To me motion is primary—it is the condition of motion which culminates in emotion. (121)

His personal philosophy and his aesthetic philosophy are completely interwoven and as a result affect all aspects of his creative works. It is not possible to separate his philosophies from his creative works or his creative process.

In an attempt to identify motivational factors that prompt him to begin work, Nikolais quickly said that there is no one specific factor involved. The urge to create a

specific work can happen in a variety of ways and under numerous circumstances. For example:

I might just be walking through nature and I'll see something that will make a connection with my Rorschach and bring me to an association which has been there all the time or has been fed from a variety of sources. that is the thing that causes it to take action. Once it begins to take action, then of course, as a professional you work from a point of view of faith. You have to have extraordinary faith in the inner process, which you don't understand, that you can't understand in a million years. You just don't know why you created what you created. You don't know what machineries are involved. You know only superficially what was involved. But I know years ago I would, and I do really pretty much now, I would have a period of time in which to create and somehow or other I would assume that somewhere within myself there had been forming a whole batch of material that would be ready to pour out. (121)

Nikolais' view of the manner in which his process evolves once the choreography is begun is contained in his statement:

. . . I had enough faith in the mental process, of the orderliness of it, to know that if I allowed it to come out freely that it would be coherent. It's when you begin to block it that it becomes incoherent. So the process is to allow it to come out. I would, in effect, just spew, spew, spew, and then I would try afterwards to put it in order and make sense of that outpouring. (121)

CREATIVE PROCESS

The inseparable nature of Nikolais' personal and aesthetic philosophies are in evidence throughout his entire creative process as the following discussions will verify.

Nikolais feels that his ideas for works are fed to him from many sources, but the thing that triggers his urge

to take action is something that occurs at a particular moment. He says:

I might just be walking through nature and I'll see something that will make a connection with my Rorschach and bring me to an association which has been there all the time, or [an association awakens which] has been fed from a variety of sources. But that [particular time I see it] is the thing that causes it to take action. (121)

For Nikolais a vague idea of some environment scheme for his work precedes the creation of the work. He has this to say concerning his preparation for choreographing a work.

I very often go [into the studio to create a work] with very limited thought in my conscious mind of what I am going to do. Of course in multimedia work I have to set up some things prior to my going to rehearsal. So I will somehow or other sense that somewhere within me I am concerned with a particular kind of environment. I will try to make that [environment] visible through some mockup of mockup slides which will be projected at, on, or around the dancers. Then I'll have costumers and technical crew come in and we'll put costumes on the dancers that will perhaps work and within the technical operatives that I have set I will have the dancers move. Sometimes I direct it and show the dancers very specifically what I want. Other times I'll say, "Here is the environment. Will you please improvise within it so that I can see what will happen." (121)

The incredible complexity of this preliminary aspect of his work does not seem to justify the choreographer's opinion that he goes into the studio to create a work with very limited thought in his conscious mind of what he is going to do. His statement is contradictory unless one accepts the choreographer's word on the basis that he does not yet have a definite structure or form in mind and he has

no specific movements or steps in mind at this point in his creative process. The choreographer continues in the unraveling of his complex personal creative process.

Nikolais explained the factors determining the structure of his work:

The structure of the piece of course depends upon the content of it and whether the content has been evidently satisfied.

The process is involved in the identity of the thing. Once the thing gives an identity, then it becomes the master and you have to make sure you don't paw over it too much. Because it is the thing. I very often find myself saying, "It wants to do this;" not, "I want to do this." (121)

In the preceding statement by Nikolais we have what at first would appear to be a contradiction concerning whether the idea for his work precedes or evolves throughout the choreographic process. The point he seems to be emphasizing is that he begins with some vague idea of an environment and, as the preliminary aspects which he has discussed evolve, the work begins to assume its identity. From this point, he continues:

It [the identity given by the work] is like a child. You guide its character. . . . you have to have faith in its inherent moralities. . .

It's like a conversation; you know when you have said it. I have enough faith in the mental process, of the orderliness of it, to know that if I allow it to come out freely it will be coherent. (121)

One is now aware that Nikolais views as inherent the simultaneous development of idea and structure in each work. From the first motivational glimmer through its giving an

identity and finally becoming the master of the entire choreographic process, he views the work as his guide.

Nikolais states that, "Technology has changed my structure." This rather straightforward statement by the choreographer takes us into the choreographer's complex creative maze once more. He states that his work is now more "filmic in nature than choreographic," in what he feels is the traditional sense of the term choreographic. He explains this by stating that advances in modern electronic technology have enabled him to do away with the entities of time and space with a flick of a carrousel projector button. He explains what he means by his work is now "filmic" with the explanation that it is now possible for him to change the concepts of time and space within a 20 minute piece no fewer than two hundred times.

In Nikolais' discussion of factors determining movement as quoted earlier, he mentioned setting up an environment and having the dancers move so he could see what happens. He continues, saying:

happens or it begins to speak back to me, then I know it will speak to an audience. With my dancers there is definite feedback. I can manipulate their feedback into a structure and into part of a piece. It isn't a re-creation; it is a creation. (121)

It is apparent that the movement is the result of the developing identity of the work itself and is created as the process develops as do all aspects of the work. Nikolais says that he works on a time schedule in order to complete his works on time. This strict adherence to a time schedule forces him to complete per day a designated number of minutes in a work. Although the pressure created by his time schedule frequently causes him distress, he feels that it serves a real purpose for him and tends to accept it as a factor with which he must live and contend in his working process.

In Nikolais' discussion of his choreographic process, the following sequence emerges. First he gets an idea of some kind of environment with which he wishes to concern himself; then he makes mockup slides that will convey the idea of the environment to his dancers. He then brings in the technical crew and his costumers, and he puts costumes on his dancers that might possibly work in the environment he has created. He then outlines the technical operatives and gives the dancers some idea of the environment in which they will move. Then, without any preliminary preparation in regard to movement, the dancers begin to move, and as they move Nikolais observes. If he sees something beginning to happen that "speaks" to him, he takes that creation and structures it into the piece. At the moment "the thing" inherent in the environmental concept of the work begins to take form, he recognizes it and allows it to take form. Nikolais' works the identity of the thing becomes the guiding factor in creating the work. He says that his creative

process is simply to allow the identity of "the thing" to come out freely and that his role is to make certain the structure of the work is coherent. Because he views the structure of the piece as being inherent in the identity of "the thing," he feels that the content of the piece must be satisfied in the work. If the content has been satisfied, then the work is complete. He says that knowing when a piece is finished is like knowing when a conversation is over. He feels that he knows when he has said what he started out to say.

The process as outlined by Nikolais seems obvious and yet complex. It is again quite apparent that the underlying personal and aesthetic philosophies of the choreographer permeate all aspects of his process. The total environmental concept is especially accented in the choreographer's discussion of his creative process.

USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

The use and function of the dancers has already been discussed in part by Nikolais because of the interwoven nature of his product and his process. However there is something to be added to what has already been said about the role of Nikolais' dancers and their creative contributions. Nikolais said:

My dancers are taught to improvise and to react to environmental change, dynamic change, so that they give back very generously. This enables us to create special

roles for special dancers too, which proves to their advantage because they come up with stylistic behaviorisms that let's say speak a little more eloquently of them than one imposed upon them from another mind. A modern dance [choreographer] depends a great deal upon the feedback from the dancer. (121)

It is obvious that Nikolais' personal philosophy applies in toto to his creative process when one views his manner of utilizing the creative contributions of his dancers in his works and when one views what he considers to be the role of his dancers in the creative process as well as in the performance.

EVALUATION

For Nikolais, "the identity of the thing becomes the master." This statement then becomes the basis for his evaluations. He said, "Each step of the way must be challenged aesthetically as to whether or not it was the correct way." He said:

It must speak to me; otherwise it will speak to no one... To me art is a form of aesthetic communication. Creating a piece is like a conversation. You know when you have said it... you have to make sure that you've said it because it is abstract. You have to have a sense of when it's been said. (121)

In each of the statements above made by Nikolais there is an inherent acceptance of the responsibility of the choreographer for the aesthetic evaluation of his choreography. And if this were not enough he says, "There is no one except the choreographer who can evaluate the work he has created." The impact of this statement is not lessened

by the fact that Nikolais will frequently call his dancers and have them watch a work and get their reactions. In addition Nikolais said, "Murray [Louis] and I will look at each other's works also and give out reactions to each other and that's pretty valuable." Nikolais pointed out that the choreographer may become more at uned to watching his works by having someone whom he respects watch with him and react. He said he almost never regards critics' opinions.

As a performer you always have a fortification of the work or an affirmation of it based on its acceptance by audiences. I have been fortunate in that I've played to all sorts of ethnic groups all over the world. So if a thing works here and it works in Japan and it works in Tunisia, and it works in Taipei or Paris, then there must be something that I am doing right.

. . . If I listened to critics I would stop doing many of the abstract expressions which actually make the substance of what I am with my mode of communication. (121)

CONCLUSION

The philosophies, the process, the product are blended in an inseparable union by the genius of Alwin Niko-lais. For Nikolais:

. . . a communication takes place through motion
. . . the work is something that you are trying to
say to someone who receives the thing through sight or
hearing. The communication is an aesthetic one; it isn't
a re-creation; it is a creation. It must always be
looked at from the aesthetic point of view. . . . Man
is a fellow traveller within the total universal mechanism rather than a god from which all things flow. Man
is a kinsman to the universe. Man is a part of the
total universe. . . . The dancer must subdue himself as
an individual and becomes greater by becoming a part of
a much greater thing. . . . Aesthetic communication takes
place through motion or in terms of abstract theatre the

way I do it. As art--dance is the art of motion, not movement. To me motion is primary--it is the condition of motion which culminates in emotion. (121)

These interwoven philosophical tenets run through his entire creative process as a leitmotif runs through a musical composition or as a ground bass underlines a score.

A chart of the answers to the basic questions of this study as stated by Nikolais is placed in Appendix A.

CHAPTER IV

MURRAY LOUIS

INTRODUCTION

Murray Louis, a native New Yorker, was a featured dancer with the Alwin Nikolais Dance Company from its inception in 1948 at the Henry Street Settlement Playhouse until he formed his own company for touring in the early 1960's He received his major professional training with Alwin Nikolais and did additional study with other modern dancers while stationed in California for a brief tour of Navy service during World War II. He attended San Francisco State College for one year and then transferred to New York State University where he completed his formal education. While a student at New York State University, he continued his professional training with Nikolais, and soon after his graduation he joined the staff at the Henry Street Settlement Playhouse. He has worked and taught with Nikolais steadily ever since (McDonagh, 47).

Since the mid-1950s, Murray Louis has choreographed works regularly for the concert stage. In the early 1960's he formed his own touring company. He has performed all over Europe, North and South America, and the Middle and Far East as the result of his affiliation with the Nikolais company

and with his own company. He has appeared frequently on television with the Nikolais company and with his own dancers. In addition, he has also produced a series of films illustrating his own approach to technique and choreography. (36:404) Louis has continued his teaching career while involved in choreographing works for his own company and while continuing his professional association with Nikolais and the current Chimera Foundation. His background in dance and in academic pursuits were factors in his selection for this study.

Louis' inclusion in this study was based on his widespread acceptance by the general public and by dancers as an
outstanding artist-choreographer. He is extremely articulate and has been the subject of numerous articles. He himself has written numerous scripts and articles dealing with
his own approach to technique and choreography and to dance
and its role in education.

Louis exudes tremendous energy and enthusiasm. His personal charm is enhanced by his wit and energy, both mental and physical. The ease with which Louis discusses his views of his personal artistic philosophy and methodology indicates the depth to which these penetrate his artistic endeavors and the solidarity they impart to his works.

Louis is often characterized as being a performer who is unusual in his muscular control. Author Richard Kraus precisely sums up this quality in this statement:

As a performer, he is unique in his muscular control. He is able to produce spasms and ripples of movement seemingly without any overt anticipatory preparation and then allow them to subside just as quickly and without any apparent effort. His sense of comic timing is extraordinarily precise, neat, and pertinent. (36:404)

Nikolais, in an interview for <u>Dance Perspectives</u>, said of Louis' performing ability:

What is a dancer? Murray! When he is around—Death hides. When he leaves there is a peaceless peace and an irritating quiet. He shakes passivity—he shames stasis—he berates contentment. When he leaves—there still trembles a rattled vacuum. (107:25)

Through his study with Nikolais, Louis has been influenced by the Germanic philosophies of Mary Wigman and Hanya Holm. This influence is apparent in his approach to the ordering of his materials in choreographing and to the attention given to space in his works. Nikolais said of Louis' background:

I remember working with Hanya years ago, and she was always very meticulous about structure. For example, she would never go to the next step if she weren't absolutely sure that the present step was correct. . . . She herself was a great believer in the inevitability of a choreographic structure. I have inherited some of that and I think Murray has too--in a way provided from Hanya, through me, to Murray. (121)

In an interview with this investigator, Louis gave a long statement on what he believes is his aesthetic or artistic philosophy. (120) He feels that the motivations of each artist determine whether he becomes a performer or a creator. This decision to perform or create stems from the necessity of each individual. He feels that the compulsion to deal in terms of revelations through movement is not always

understood by choreographers. Louis feels that those who create dances might view the purpose of their work as primarily to make art. In his personal concept of art, he sees two forms of beauty in the world. One form is the beauty produced by nature in its own time, and the second form is the beauty produced by man and this last is based on the rules that man himself devises. From man's artificial rules comes art. Louis believes that it is innate in some men, and in mankind in general, to respond to art because it is an inherent part of their growing and living process. He feels that art creates a certain order in their system; it creates sanity; it creates balance; it creates the opportunity for investigation into areas which otherwise would go without investigation in the daily living process. Art is essential because it serves to nourish the soul. Art then becomes a series of materials that is utilized only by mankind. It does not appeal to animals; it is an artificial thing.

Louis feels that he creates a work out of a particular aesthetic need and out of a sense of responsibility as an artist. He feels that the creation of art is an honorable manifestation of his basic skills as an artist. He also feels that he is "hooked on creativity," and he finds, "I have very few other ways of coming into the world except through the art." He points out that earlier in his career he, "had to struggle to learn his craft," and during that

phase of his career the need to create dances was not as compelling as it is now. At this present point in his career, he feels that he composes for a variety of reasons. He composes because he understands dance as an entree into the universe to such a degree that he "can reveal things to other people . . . through a structure called a dance." He then gets his dancers to reveal these things through the dance.

At the age of thirteen Louis made his decision to become a dancer and to work creatively. He feels that nothing has intruded upon his decision since the time he made it, but he feels that he has developed his philosophy and the ability to verbalize and deal with the intangible through his art since he made his decision. He said that the idea of man as a part of the universe is not his own thinking but rather credits Nikolais with the concept. Louis' own point of view, "is not so much man as part of the universe but that the universe is communicated to man through man." This view affects the way he develops his dancers.

He trains his dancers in a certain sensitivity that will enable them to serve as a conduit from the universe to man. This he feels makes his position as a choreographer much more poetic in a sense because he is concerned with the illumination, the insights, with a kind of poetry versus prose in his works. Louis feels that Nikolais views his own works on a much more heroic scale as the result of his philosophy than he himself sees his own works. Louis'

view of his own works comes as the result of the fact that he has always been a dancer-choreographer, and he feels very strongly that knowing how much a dancer can do, and how what the dancer does, has a way of directly affecting the audience. This knowledge enables him to work through the audience in subtle ways. Therefore the dance influences the audience without overwhelming them. For Louis it is essential that he knows how his dances are communicating from the "stage out" that is as the performer affecting an audience. Until the last few years he never saw any of his works from the audience. He always danced in his works so he had to know how his works were communicating from the "stage out."

Louis feels that the way he works now is very different from the way in which he worked fifteen years ago. He feels that his dedication and his working towards an aesthetic level have never lessened. The change in the way in which he works has been in his grasp of his subject matter, in the effort involved in creating dances, and in the range of materials which he utilizes for his dances. At one time in his career he worked toward what he terms a very scientific clarity in his choreography. He feels that this approach was refined through his teaching. As a teacher he was forced to develop the ability to verbalize clearly and fully in order to make the intangible concepts which he was striving to teach tangible for his students. Throughout the

period in which he was developing his scientific approach to choreography he would set as his goal the choreographing of three works for a program. Each of the three works would have a predetermined place in the program and a preconceived form for its development. The opening work which he terms his "big structured piece" would have as its structural focus a piece of classical music. The second work which he terms his "poetic work" would allow him to probe into his material much as he does in his current works. And the final work for the program would be what he terms "a big theatrical carnage" that would include all the "lusty bravura" that form and content could convey.

He discovered after a few years of working in the total program manner that he had so many works in his repertoire that it was no longer necessary to choreograph three works or entire programs each year. He felt he could enjoy doing whatever he chose to do. His premises, after years of composing, began to develop from deeper levels of creative searching. For Louis, the richness of new movement, of new dynamics, of new time sensitivities, and of new spatial sensitivities became the sources for his premises. For him, these premises resulted in getting deeper into his works, and this led him to develop his works on what he has termed "a more subtle level." His view of his choreographic development then would seem to be contingent upon the fact that he developed from the practical considerations of his

craft through a phase which he terms "scientific" on the basis of the manner in which he dealt with his subject matter into a more pronounced "scientific analysis" of his sub-In this latter stage of his work he feels his iect matter. works became more subtle in nature. At this point in the development of his choreography he feels that he began to probe and work at deeper levels of the organism of dance as He feels that the attempt to peel away surface matters and get to the heart of things gave his works a new dimension. When he attempted to work with the "big theatrical forms," they began to lose the "lusty bravura" they had at one time because he was more concerned with the depth of their premises. Depth, in his words, "doesn't have lusty bravura. It has another kind of depth, it's gory." He feels that his coming to grips with the depth of his premises enabled him to look at gore as bravura as opposed to looking merely at the brashness of bravura. In his poetic works he feels that he began to come to grips with "the sensitivity of just touching a nerve and how one could make that happen." He began to work on certain poetic things that had as their focus sustainment in time or the investigation of a small aspect of space. He feels the result of his probing into the depths of his premises opened new vistas to him as a choreographer. Louis says that as the result of his attempt to probe into the depths of possible premises he occasionally encounters areas that he doesn't care to investigate because

they frighten him. He also feels that with what comes with the age and with the experience of being able to go deeper into one's work, comes the maturity and materials to handle that depth in one's work. When he encounters things that frighten him, they have their effect. He begins to think:

How can I now put this into the materials of my art? How can I translate that sensation, that moment, that insight, into the craft? The space of it, the time of it, the shape of it, the life of it, into a body manipulation of it. (120)

This is the stage Louis feels he has reached now at this point in his career. Louis considers that working at this depth is not a matter of working actively over a long period of time. Rather he thinks it is the result of working with an uninterrupted motivation. He feels that he is fortunate because he has not had to be concerned with the financial and practical matters of survival which he feels interfere with the motivations of so many artists. He feels that this is due to the fact that his early works were successful and provided him with a sound financial basis that then enabled him to develop along new lines in his work as he matured as a choreographer. He does not feel compelled to keep producing the same kinds of works that he produced in the beginning of his choreographic career and that had proven to be financially successful.

In the above material Louis outlined his unique approaches to his choreography as three different ways of producing three kinds of dances: "big structured works,"

"poetic works," and "lusty-bravura theatrical works." He also emphasized the fact that he has shifted his approach from a surface level to a deeper probing of his subject matter, indicating that the shift has brought about a greater concern with the subtle treatment of subject matter.

The following is the result of the information gathered in the investigator's interview with Murray Louis:

MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY

Louis feels that for him creating is a compulsion based on a need to communicate aesthetically. He finds that as a dancer-choreographer-artist he has "very few other ways of coming into the world except through my art."

An examination of motivational prods that cause him to begin working on a piece led Louis to conclude that ideas for dances come from everywhere. He says, "They come at crazy times, and I can say, ah, that's the beginning."

And they come through in a variety of ways. They can come through visual stimulation. They can come while he is teaching a class when the clarification of what he is doing wrong can be the motivation for the new dance. The stimulation for a new dance comes from all sorts of places; it can come from a pedestrian, from Louis the dancer and from Louis the choreographer. Certainly for him ideas come from all sources.

Louis says that he keeps himself open to ideas and that when they occur he consciously "nails" them. He keeps

a kind of mental card catalogue of ideas for dances; this he adds to constantly. This is in keeping with his belief that "there is no such thing as a wrong movement, it's only wrong for a particular dance. It might turn out to be perfectly right for the next piece or dance." Sometimes when he works he will let himself get carried away with what he feels is the "germinal seed" for the next thing that he will choreograph. He will let the "germinal seed" go just far enough to identify it and for him to grasp it; then he will return to his work in progress. He feels it is unfortunate if one work does not lead him to the premise for his next piece.

The interrelatedness of Louis' philosophies is apparent in his discussion of the motivations for his works but becomes even more apparent when one considers that for him, "Each work has its own identity. I stay with the thing I want the audience to see." He knows how he is going to direct the audience in its responses and remains conscious of this factor throughout his entire creative process. He knows how he is going to use his dancers as conduits through which the universe will be communicated to the audience.

CREATIVE PROCESS

The question remaining is this: What creative process does the artist use in order to produce his unique and varied works?

Louis believes that the motivation or stimulation for his works that can be communicated through man to man come from a wide variety of sources. They can come from,

. . . a pedestrian, from the teacher me, from the dancer me, from the creative me. They can come through visual stimulation. While teaching a class the clarification of what I am doing wrong can be the motivation for a new dance. (120)

He feels that he keeps himself open to ideas for new dances, and when they occur he consciously nails them then goes back to the work he was doing.

Louis said:

When I work I have a premise. I stay with the premise [and] that is what leads me into how I direct it [the dance]. I stay with what I want the audience to see. (120)

This statement points to the fact that his works are related to both his personal and aesthetic philosophies.

In terms of preparation for his creative process he said:

I don't start choreographing [movement] until I begin the dance. Until I'm in the mood. I don't plan anything. I just become imbued with the area and the nature of what I am going to do. I just open the flood gates and then it happens. (120)

It would seem that the confidence to do this comes from an extraordinarily sound faith in the strength of his underlying personal and aesthetic philosophies.

Louis believes that form or structure in his works, "has to do with my own lyricism." He has an elaborate personal theory dealing with form:

Form is passed on, form is inherited in the human body. It is a genetic thing. Nik [Nikolais] calls it balance. There is within the human body a sense of continence when a thing is right and the human body intuitively orders itself towards that [sense of rightness]. Especially in creators there is the sense of what the form for a particular thing should be. It is a sense of form. (120)

Versal aspect of his personal philosophy in that he feels the sense of form is universally inherent in man. It logically follows that his perception of form is compatible with his aesthetic philosophical concept that in his works he uses the dancers as a direct route to go through the metakinesical and kinetic senses of his audience in order to communicate his premise on an aesthetic level.

For Louis the actual working development of the form or structure of a piece is contingent upon his belief that.

Each work has its own identity. That is what leads me into how I direct it. I stay with its premise. I stay with the thing I want the audience to see. I know how I am going to direct that audience. (120)

Again, assuming that his premise is related to his personal philosophy that, "the universe is communicated to man through man," and that his aesthetic philosophy encompasses his concern with illumination and insights, this illumination and the insights are used in an attempt to aesthetically communicate his premise through his audience. His statement

is then a verification that this aspect of his creative process is in keeping with his personal and aesthetic philosophies.

Louis feels that, "Through years of improvising I have learned to understand the intuitive decisions. When a phrase says, dum bump, it says it is finished." This intuitive ability that Louis feels he has developed through the years serves as his guide in determining when a work is completed. This belief seems to be related to the portion of his aesthetic philosophy in which he says, "I can reveal ideas to other people through a structure called a dance." This statement also implies that the choreographer has confidence in his mastery of the structural aspect of his craft.

Over the years Louis has developed a personal way of choreographing. He feels that the way in which he works probably doesn't make any sense to other people but for him it is the only way that does make sense. He makes no preparations for the content of his dances before he goes into the studio to create them. He simply saturates himself with the area and the nature of what he is going to do. Then he,

. . . just opens the flood gates and then it happens. I let it flow and I just sneak it through very quickly. . . . I use the dancer me to create the steps that the choreographer me is doing. (120)

Louis said that he becomes an amazing kind of schizophrenic machine when he choreographs. I talk to myself. . . . I do talk aloud and my company is so thrilled now that they actually hear me at times saying, "Oh, no, you didn't want that," and I say, "Do that." And I do that. Then I'll finish a thing and I'll say, "What did it mean?" The company will say, "What did it say?" and I say, "It said, around the corner with the arms, and when you get to it you need to go into a relevé and lower yourself."

I say, "What does it mean?" And then they the dancers will do the literal instructions and I'll say, "Oh, okay," and that's it. That's what it was! (120)

He does this talking to himself and the follow-the-leader process right there in the studio. He doesn't take anything home, and he makes no preparations for what the steps may be until he gets inside the thing he is creating.

It seems that Louis' choreographic process does relate to his personal and aesthetic philosophies. The selection of a premise that can be communicated aesthetically in abstract terms is basic to Louis' choreographic process.

Louis' personal and aesthetic philosophies guide the formulation of the premise which leads him into how he directs the piece, how he develops the movements, and how he determines the structure. It is not possible to separate the developmental sequences relating to structure and content from the developing premise or identity of the work in Louis' choreographic process.

USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

Louis illustrates the manner in which he encourages creative contributions from his dancers throughout his creative process in the following statements:

[Sometimes] I just give my dancers the steps and many times the dynamics and perhaps the energy necessary, and I see what they can do. Or if I come to special things where I know some kids can do extraordinary leaps or falls or extensions, I just talk those out. I say, "Here I want this kind of fall. You work it out." (120)

There is no question but that he controls the creative contributions of his dancers. Louis feels that, if the choreographer is going to determine the audience reaction, he must then determine the movement content of the piece.

Louis is explicit in what he expects of his dancers in terms of performance.

What I ask from my dancers is performance and to that performance they have to bring the skills of performing. Their duty is to do transitions, dynamics and quality. My dancers are trained in improvisation. They lend so much. (120)

What Louis expects of his dancers in performance is the fulfillment of his philosophical statement that "Dancers serve as a conduit through which the universe is communicated to man."

The choreographer's control of all aspects of the choreographic process which enables him to direct the reaction of his audience by working through them subtly via his dancers is proof enough of the interrelatedness of his philosophies and his choreographic process.

Louis is consistent with his philosophies throughout his choreographic process and in the way in which he allows his dancers to make creative contributions to his work. This consistency also carries over into that which he expects from his dancers in performance. Louis said that he refuses to work under the pressure of a performance deadline. He feels that it is unprofessional to finish a work "ten minutes" before it is to be performed. He feels that the work must be completed far enough in advance to allow it to "mellow like a fine wine." He also feels that his evaluation of a work takes on a new dimension as he removes himself from it in time. He said that he choreographs for his audiences because, "dance is a performing art." And it is essential for him to get away from the piece and look at it from a fresh perspective in order for him to tell how the audience is going to react.

The sequence or progression followed by Louis in making his dances seems to be very logical in its development. His work begins with a concept or premise which then becomes the factor leading him in developing the structure or form of the work which seems to parallel the development of the movement and all subsequent aspects of the work. He does evaluate his work aesthetically as it develops. In a later discussion we will consider other evaluative factors.

Louis feels that he has an unusual source for developing movement patterns. He has already said that he makes no
preparations for what his movements or steps will be until
he gets inside the thing that he is creating. And he has
discussed the fact that his premise for a work determines
all subsequent aspects of it. Thus his premise determines
his structure as well as his movement content. He describes

his process for developing movement in the following statements:

When I choreograph I am an amazing kind of schizophrenic machine. I talk to myself. I let it [the dance movement] flow. I demonstrate which way it wants to go. I use the dancer me to create the steps that the choreographer me is doing. I do this talking to myself and the follow-the-leader kind of process right there in the studio with my dancers watching and listening. (120)

Louis does not work through improvisation with his materials. He says that he creates almost everything in a piece. Sometimes, "I just give my dancers the steps and many times the dynamics and perhaps the energy necessary, and I see what they can do." He emphasizes his control over all aspects of his works; even the creative contributions of his dancers are carefully guided to enable him to adhere to his premise.

There is a definite relationship between the choreographic process and the personal and aesthetic philosophies of Louis. The selection of a premise that can be communicated aesthetically in abstract terms is basic to his creative process. The fact that the premise leads Louis into the manner in which he directs the piece, develops the movement content, and determines the structure of the work are indicative of the existing relationship. The control he maintains over all aspects of the creative process including the contributions of his dancers points to the relationship developed under the control of the premise. Finally, his expectations with regard to his dancers' performance and the

aesthetic purpose of the performance blend into a single statement: "Dancers serve as a conduit through which the universe is communicated to man."

EVALUATION

Louis evaluates the structure and content of his dances throughout his entire creative process. As the choreographer, Louis is concerned with his aesthetic judgment and his ability to structure movement. He depends upon what he terms "my inner lyricism in determining form." He relies upon his intuitive or innate sense of form as an evaluative guide. He also feels that creative individuals have an innate sense of continence, and this sense guides them in determining the appropriateness of content.

On another level he stated, "I must evaluate my work from the stage out because I am a dancer." He feels the need to know how his works are communicating from the dancers' viewpoint. On still another level he feels that it is imperative that he compose a piece as early as possible.

I have to get away from it, and the evaluations have to be on another level. In the heat of my work, of my working process and in the heat of my irritations I cannot evaluate it [the piece]. I must divorce myself from all that and see it openly and directly. And it takes a little bit of time to get away from it. (120)

This insistence on separation in time Louis feels is necessary for him if he is going to be able to determine the impact of the work upon his audience. In all of his statements concerning evaluation, Louis affirms his acceptance of the choreographer's responsibility with regards to evaluation. He says, "I have to go it [evaluation] alone." The only person other than "myself whose aesthetic judgment I even consider is Nik. Nik, because he knows what I'm doing."

Louis feels that a critic is never important enough to make a choreographer change his work. This statement reinforces the fact that Louis feels as a choreographer he is responsible for the aesthetic impact his work has on his audiences. He feels that, as the artist who created the work, he is the only person who is capable of determining whether the work has revealed its inherent identity. The fact that he believes that he is concerned with illumination, insights and a kind of poetry-versus-prose in terms of the aesthetic purpose of communication in his works would seem to justify his view of the critic's opinion.

The philosophical tenets of Louis are interwoven through all aspects of his creative process from the motivation for a piece through the final evaluation of the completed work. The creative product that results from this masterful blend of philosophical strength and choreographic process is like a beautiful tapestry that combines textural effect with color dynamics to create an unforgettable aesthetic effect in the viewer.

CONCLUSION

Louis believes that "the universe is communicated to man through man." This is revealed in his need to know what a dancer can do, in his knowing that a dancer has a "very direct way of getting into an audience." Artistically he feels he is concerned with illumination, with insights and a kind of poetry which he can reveal "through a structure called dance." Dancers are, as he says, "a conduit through which the universe is communicated to man." Louis' personal and aesthetic philosophies are so interwoven it is difficult to separate them.

In working his way through the choreographing of a dance, Louis is guided by what he wants the audience to see; again the factor, "communication to man through man," is apparent. What the dance wants to say guides the selection of movement, as well as all the materials of the dance and the structure. This selection indicates that each dance can only have one structure which is appropriate to it only. Hanva Holm and Alwin Nikolais, teachers of Louis, were and are meticulous about structure, both believing that each choreographic work has an inevitable form. Finally in his discussion of evaluation, his philosophy is again apparent in his statements that he creates for his audiences and has to direct the responses of his audience. Again, Louis, dancers, communicating to man.

A chart of Louis' statements in answer to the basic questions of this study is placed in Appendix B.

CHAPTER V

PHYLLIS LAMHUT

INTRODUCTION

Phyllis Lamhut was a featured dancer with the Alwin Nikolais Dance Company from its inception in 1948 at the Henry Street Settlement Playhouse until 1969. She also had a long tenure with the Murray Louis Dance Company as leading dancer. Miss Lamhut received her major professional training with Alwin Nikolais and studied with Merce Cunning-She studied ballet at the American Ballet Center, with Zena Rommett and Peter Saul. As a member of the Nikolais and Louis companies, she performed all over the world on concert stages and on television, winning critical acclaim for her artistry of motion and her talents as a comedienne. She has been equally successful in choreography and has produced her own works for many years. Miss Lamhut was a 1974 Guggenheim Fellowship Recipient and has received grants from the National Endowment for the Arts, the Creative Artists Public Service Program and the New York State Council on the Arts (McDonagh, 47).

In 1969 Miss Lamhut formed her own company and has choreographed extensively for her company while continuing her teaching career.

Phyllis Lamhut, a petite blond, possesses poise and energy which are immediately apparent. Her keen mind, ready wit and obvious enthusiasm for her art provide one with a clue to the depth and breadth of this unusual dancer-choreographer-artist.

Jack Anderson, a well known dance critic and observer, in an interview article succeeded to a degree in capturing Lamhut's essence in the following:

Phyllis Lamhut calls herself "a witch." Yet she also insists, "Essentially, I'm a product of American modern dance." The more one thinks about these [two statements] the less disparate they seem.

Like a witch, she can be deceptive. Anyone who has seen her in the productions of Alwin Nikolais or Murray Louis or in her own compositions for her own company knows Phyllis Lamhut as a tiny blonde dancer, nimble as an elf and blessed with a nearly impeccable sense of timing.

But look again, and look closer. The elfishness is a product of hard work in the studio. Phyllis Lamhut is simultaneously perky and determined. Her determination is even apparent in her speaking voice, and it's emphasized by some no-nonsense inflections which remind one that her birthplace was Brooklyn. What could be more American than that? (73:62)

Reflecting upon her training and the development of her creativity in Anderson's interview Lamhut said:

. . . I consider myself to have been totally trained by Nik [Nikolais] and influenced by Nik and Murray [Louis]. Yet I don't think I imitate either. While we all share a common movement vocabulary, we have quite separate choreographic visions. Nik never negated any

of his students as individuals. He nurtured the special qualities each of us had to offer. (73:62)

A sound philosophic insight into her aesthetic sensitivities and choreographic purpose has enabled Lamhut to develop a diverse repertoire. She is quite capable of choreographing somber or serious works, works which she calls "dramatic" dances, although she admitted that they are not dramatic in any of the conventional narrative forms. She has also choreographed non-proscenium stage works as well as proscenium ones. Although she works in many genres, audiences have tended to associate Lamhut, as a dancer and as a choreographer, with comedy. This view of Lamhut as a comedienne is quite justified if one has seen her works Country Mozart, Hearts of Palm, or Z Twiddle.

As might be expected of such a proficient performer and choreographer, she has developed some concrete theories about comedy. Of her theories, Lamhut told Anderson:

". . . Comedy arises out of a juxtaposition of disparate events and the incongruities of those juxtapositions are communicated to the audience through 'the X-factor of timing.' A sense of timing, like genius itself, cannot be manufactured—it's too mysterious for that." (73:62)

Anderson wrote:

Very importantly for Phyllis, the humor must basically reside in the movement itself. It cannot be applied from the outside by giving the dance a veneer of jollity. "That leads to cutesy humor," she says, "and I can't stand cutesy humor." In cutesy humor the performer strains hard to be amusing. He may even smile and wink and smirk at the audience. But the dance will remain resolutely un-funny because its humor, rather than being part of the movement, is only an affectation.

To make sure that the humor in her pieces is intrinsic, she tries to forbid her company from laughing during rehearsals: "I don't want us to fool ourselves into thinking we're funny when we're really not." She adds, however, "Sometimes we have such fun working on a comedy that we can't help breaking out into fits of giggles." (73:62)

Though Lamhut never explains her mysterious sense or "X factors," one is able to surmise that she is speaking of the "x factor of timing" as the primary ingredient of comedy. She alluded to this in her interview responses with the writer. (119)

In her statements to the interviewer concerning her philosophy, Lamhut said she views life as a comic-tragic existence. Anderson commented on this view in his article; he wrote:

Phyllis would probably agree with the theory that there is a comic view of life which some people possess by temperament, just as other people share a tragic view of life: "Not a day goes by that I don't have a good laugh. Some of the ways our bodies operate are funny in themselves. And as for the business and commercial world, that lifestyle is nothing but a big joke. I see life in a comic-tragic way."

The addition of the word "tragic" indicates that comedy, for Phyllis, is not something simple. Indeed, she thinks that all her comic works have double meanings. (73:64)

The double meanings of Lamhut's dances can also involve such subtle or lofty concepts as the duality (or positive and negative aspects) of existence itself. In his writing Anderson enlarged upon Lamhut's view of duality in her works.

There are occasions when a single event may seem hilarious or somber--or simultaneously both--because of the differing perspectives from which it can be viewed. "There are dances of death in everything I do," Phyllis insists. "Yes, they're intentional dances of death. I put them there deliberately. It's your problem to find where they are." (73:64)

She is very much interested in the responses of audiences to her comedy and, like many comic artists, speaks of playing with an audience, rather than simply playing to it. Nonetheless, there are times when, for all her knowledge of the ways audiences can behave, their reactions come as a total surprise. (73:64)

One form she does not attempt very often is mixed-media. "I'm around a master of that form," she explains, "so I'll leave it to him"--the "him" being, of course, Alwin Nikolais. (73:64)

Though proud of her versatility, Phyllis says, "I'm bored with my two feet and my same old body. It's a burden always to have the same body. I think that feeling of burden is related to a choreographer's constant fear of repeating himself. No one wants to repeat himself over and over." (73:64)

"That's why I'm a witch. I like magic, levitation, illusion--above all, illusion. I'd like to evaporate during a dance. I'd like to do big, wild, wacky, crazy numbers. But I also feel like doing tiny dances to Mozart." (73:62)

"My company stimulates my imagination," she says, "It's not a company of look alikes. I hate companies like that: they seem to negate the whole point of modern dance." (73:62)

Writer Don McDonagh painted a vivid description of Lamhut's choreographic and performing style in one of his reviews: "Phyllis Lamhut's vocabulary of comic gesture has been refined into an exquisitely witty shorthand over the years." (103)

In an interview with this investigator, Lamhut said of her belief in her own aesthetic or artistic philosophy:

Actually I create because it is part of my nature. It was developed early in my dance training, and I feel the need to create. . . to create is a need and is executed for that [purpose].

I choreograph to stimulate the awareness of the audience to what I am doing. I would like to create an awareness for an aesthetic sense for the audience. And I would like people to respond very strongly to my work. I don't do any psychotherapy. I just do it [communicate] very directly. I am stimulated by everything around me, and I try to give it my point of view and hope that I enrich what I do in relation to the audience. I want the audience to have a kinetic and aesthetic stimulation when they see my work. (119)

The question remaining is this: What choreographic process does the artist use in order to produce her unique and varied works? The following is the result of the information gathered in the investigator's interview with Phyllis Lamhut unless otherwise noted.

MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY

Lamhut feels that she creates because it is a part of her nature. She also feels that her need to create dances was developed early in her dance training. In response to the question, "What has enabled you to create your dances?" she had this to say: "... twenty five years of constant creativity and 50,000,000 plies." (73:62)

Although Lamhut readily points out that she considers that she was totally trained by Nikolais and influenced by both Nikolais and Louis, she feels that her works reflect

her own separate choreographic visions. She believes that she utilizes a wide range of subjects for her works and this has enabled her to produce a diverse repertoire.

In an attempt to identify motivational factors that prompt her to begin work on a piece, Lamhut refers to the varied nature or wide range of her repertoire as the key to the motivational aspects of her creative work. She feels that she is stimulated and motivated by everything around her (nature, life, music, motion), and sometimes her motivation is some kind of idea that she has emotionally in her soul and which she tries to then communicate through a dance. This view seems to be in keeping with her philosophical views.

CREATIVE PROCESS

Lamhut's view of the manner in which her creative process evolves is again related to the diverse nature of her work. She rarely defines specifically what she is going to do before she begins working on a piece. She works instead from some aspect of space or time in order to allow the dance to grow or develop in a nonrestrictive environment.

She feels that she is practical as opposed to emotional or erratic when she is creating a piece. Lamhut said that she is never depressed when she is creating. In fact, she believes that she is usually elated during her creative activity. She believes that she has the ability to view her

working process objectively, and she feels that this ability enables her to determine whether the work is going well or not. She feels that deciding whether the work is good or not and deciding whether the process is going well or not, requires a great deal of experience and artistic intuition.

She has a process she thinks about when she gets stuck that indicates a logical or scientific approach to solving her creative problems. She outlines her process in the following statement:

I think about certain rules and regulations: What have I done? What haven't I done? What does it need now? What doesn't it need? Where is the dynamic flow? What do I want to do spatially? What is the form of it? Is the form right? Am I structurally interesting? What is the nature of the dance? Which turn is it taking? Is it what I started out to make it become, or is it something else? What is that something else? And so it goes, on and on and on. While I'm working I look into it. I'm always out of it looking into it. While I'm making it, I'm usually into it. Then I pull myself out of it to look at it and see. This is all done psychically. (119)

The rationality of her approach in analyzing her problem is a clear indication of what she feels should be inherent in a well-structured work. Her concern with the basic choreographic elements serves as a capsuled view of her choreographic process. She analyzes the dynamic flow, the spatial elements, the form of the whole, the nature or identity of the work and its relationship to her original intent or the nature or identity of the work if it has assumed its own identity. Here again the versatility of the choreographer is apparent. She does not insist that

the work become that which she originally set out to make it become. She implied that she looks at the work in process to determine whether or not it has become something other than that which she as the choreographer set out to make it become.

It is apparent that the form and content of a work evolve simultaneously throughout Lamhut's choreographic process. While Lamhut has a process that she thinks about to guide her in her creative efforts, it is also implied that this process can be applied as an evaluative tool for the choreographer to judge whether the work takes on its own identity or whether it retains the identity envisioned by the choreographer. According to Lamhut, the form or structure of a work, as well as the aesthetic evaluation of the work, are the direct result of the choreographer's experience and intuition. In her working process, she said that she does something and then she evaluates. She feels that the basis for her creative and evaluative processes are these:

I want the audience to have a kinetic and aesthetic stimulation when they see my work... The humor or pathos must be intrinsic in the movement... Intuition, the "X factor," the artistic "X factors," all of these things are involved. Everything comes from practical application, from what I know, from experiences. (119)

Certainly we assume at this point the experiential and intuitive factors serve as her criteria for evaluation, and her personal experiences and knowledge as a creative artist serve as her artistic guides through the creative maze.

Throughout her creative process, if she "gets stuck" Lamhut feels free to call upon her dancers for their movement ideas. However, she stressed that she does not do this often. Again we see the importance of her personal philosophy as it affects her work. She feels that she tries to give her works her own point of view; therefore, she feels that the movement content of her works should develop out of her own creative fiber. She does not work through improvisation in her work. She said that she sets practically everything in her works herself. There is a direct relationship to her statement on the importance of experience and intuition in the way she approaches solving her creative She has a process she thinks about when she gets problems. stuck that indicates a logical or analytical approach to solving her creative problems which was stated earlier on page seventy seven.

She further implied as stated earlier that she looks at the work in process to determine whether or not it has become something other than that which she as the choreographer set out to make it become. This statement is indicative of the flexibility of her thinking in terms of her creative concept and confirms her philosophic statement concerning the duality of thematic approach or content possibilities.

She said that there is never enough time to make a work correct in the artistic sense of the word. She relies

upon her intuition and experience in determining when the work is complete.

USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

Lamhut feels free to ask her dancers for their movement ideas: "When I get stuck I ask them, 'What should I do next?'" She emphasizes that she does not often ask her dancers for their help. And she does not need their help as a source of ideas. She feels

. . . that it is important for the dancer to be trained creatively as well as technically. In her opinion, "The better dancer is the dancer who has more to him than his physical ability. He has to have feeling for the movement, feeling for the creative idea, feeling for the choreography and a feeling for improvisation." (119)

This indicates that there is a relationship here to that portion of her philosophy in which she states, "I am influenced by everything around me. . ."

EVALUATION

Again the logical aspect of Lamhut's creative approach became apparent as she discussed her evaluation process. "I do something and then I evaluate." This statement implies that evaluation is an on-going process for Lamhut. She has already explained the process she uses for this phase of her work in her statement on page seventy seven. The consistency of her approach to evaluation is parallel to the approach she uses in developing movement content as well

as to her process sequence. Concerning evaluating during the creative process, she made the statement:

Sometimes I'll say, "Well, it's not going very well today, or it is going well, or it's not this or that, or what it is." I can remove myself from it and then deal with it as I see it after I leave it. (119)

The implication here is that the ability to remove herself from the work and gain a new perspective is again indicative of the flexible mind of the artist. The ability to use the practical aspect of time to gain a fresh perspective and to retain the desired point of view that she wishes to convey in the work is again very logical and therefore compatible with the artists' approach to the choreographic process.

According to Lamhut, ". . . how to get to the point, to know when it [the work] is good and when it is not good, . . . requires a lot of experience." This concept seems to be specifically related to her premise that, "everything I know and experience go into practical application."

In order to clarify her vantage point as performercreator involved in the evaluation process, she says:

While I'm working I look into it [the work] . While I'm making it I'm usually into it. Then I pull myself out of it to look at it and see [what it is] . This is all done psychically. (119)

This explanation affirms Lamhut's earlier statement that the intuition, the "X factor," or the artistic "X factors" are all involved in creating a work.

It seems that Lamhut's view of motivational factors as well as her choreographic approach to form an aesthetic

evaluation are related to her philosophical beliefs that she is guided by intuition and experience and motivated by everything around her. That she relies upon her artistic "X factors" and upon her experiences in giving her works her own point of view is made apparent in her statements concerning motivation, form, content, creative use of her dancers and in her aesthetic evaluation.

For Lamhut the push for the completion of a dance serves both as a prod and ultimately provides the opportunity to preview the work. The preview serves in turn as an experience that enables the artist to view the finished work in a practical evaluative sense. Lamhut said:

. . . the dancers have the experience of performing out of the rehearsal studio in the real situation. When we come back from previewing a work we can see what it was, what it felt like, and how people responded to it. It's a test. (119)

Here again the artist is confirming the importance of experience in the creative process. She feels that the work simply must be finished by the performance deadline. By previewing her works outside of New York and ahead of the deadline, she feels that she can see what she has created and can determine if the work needs changes in order to strengthen its impact. Lamhut said that she seldom makes changes in her works, but occasionally in a completed work she will find that she needs to make a few changes. She feels that her works need to be completed at least two weeks before performance in order for the dancers to do justice

to their performance of the work. Lamhut said that in her creative process, "The intuition, the 'x factor,' the artistic 'X factors' all of these things are involved. . . . everything I know and experience goes into practical application." This view is emphasized in that Lamhut believes that one never has enough time to make a work correct in the final artistic sense of the word. She believes that only the creator of a work is capable of evaluating the work. She accepts the full artistic responsibility for evaluating her works.

One assumes upon the basis of the artist's statements that throughout Lamhut's creative process she keeps open to everything around her and tries to give her works her own point of view since her intent is to enrich what she has experienced in order to give the audience her point of view through kinetic and aesthetic stimulation. The awareness of the fact that she considers a preview performance a test of the work because it gives her dancers the opportunity to perform the work for a live audience in a realistic situation and that this enables Lamhut to view the work as it actually comes to life for the first time, confirms the practical experience factor as one of the strongest elements influencing the choreographer's creative process.

CONCLUSION

The personal and aesthetic philosophies of Lamhut seem to have a definite relationship throughout her choreographic

activities and their influence is apparent in her dances in subject matter and manner of performance. In her personal philosophy she says that she views life in "a comic-tragic way" and feels that "humor and pathos must be intrinsic in the movement she uses in her choreographing." This statement points to the interrelatedness of her philosophic tenets. She states also, "I am stimulated by everything around me, and I try to give it my point of view and hope that I enrich what I do in relation to the audience." This statement is carried through in her choreography as she attempts to "stimulate the awareness of the audience" to what she is conveying in her choreography. She said "I want the audience to have a kinetic and aesthetic stimulation when they see my work."

A chart of Lamhut's statements in answer to the basic questions of this study is placed in Appendix C. In Chapter VI a comparison and summary of the interview material is presented. The chapter ends with a chart which can be used to compare the three choreographers' statements.

CHAPTER VI

COMPARISONS

Chapter VI presents the comparisons of the similarities and differences in the choreographic processes of Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis and Phyllis Lamhut. The comparisons are based on the interview responses of the three choreographers as related to the four areas of basic concern to the study.

A comparison chart of the key responses of all three subjects to the questions basic to the study followed by a comparative analysis of their choreographic processes are presented at the conclusion of the chapter.

The individual approaches of the subjects to the choreographic process and the differences in the techniques used throughout the creative process are evident in the discussions of each of the subjects. The differences between the subject's choreographic processes and between the techniques each uses throughout his creative process differ in varying degrees. Yet, the finished artistic product of each of the three choreographers bears the unquestionable stamp of outstanding creative and artistic work. Equally evident is the strong influence of the personal and aesthetic philosophies of each of the subjects that affect all aspects of creative endeavor by the choreographers.

MOTIVATION

All three subjects choreograph to satisfy a need to create and communicate aesthetically.

Reason for Choreographing

For each of the subjects, the need to express himself in artistic terms serves as the underlying motivation for creative activity. Each choreographer expresses his personal and aesthetic philosophies in his work. These interrelated philosophies of each of the subjects serve as a motivation for choreographing as well as the basis or primary reference point for all aspects of the creative process.

Personal and Aesthetic Philosophies

All three subjects expressed a universal point of view in their personal philosophies. Nikolais expressed his personal philosophy in terms of man as a part of the universe; therefore, man must perform within an environment of which he must be an integral part. "The dancer who subdues himself as an individual becomes greater by becoming a part of a much greater thing." (121) This statement is the key or guide to understanding Nikolais' entire choreographic process. Louis sees man as a "conduit through which the universe is communicated." (120) Lamhut has interpreted the experience of being a part of the universe as man's existence in a "comic-tragic situation." (119) She tries to give her works her own interpretations of this "comic-tragic" experience.

Each of the choreographers has a personal philosophy that differs slightly from the others in conceptual terms. Nikolais said that, "Man is a fellow traveller within the total universal mechanism rather than a god from which all things flow." Louis said that, "The universe is communicated to man through man." He views his works from the standpoint of a dancer who chooses to work in such a way that he goes through the viewer in a very subtle way to make his aesthetic point. Aesthetically, he feels that his works are "poetic" in that he is largely "concerned with illumination, and with insights." This view of Louis' underlying personal and aesthetic philosophies becomes the key or guide to understanding his entire choreographic process. Lamhut feels that she is stimulated by everything around her. She said, "I view life as a comic-tragic situation." She tries to give her works her own point of view and seeks to enrich what she does in order to stimulate her audience kinetically and aesthetically when they see her work. These personal and aesthetic philosophies become essential factors in attempting to understand Lamhut's choreographic process.

CONCLUSION

All three choreographers have a personal philosophy that is clearly related to an aesthetic philosophy. For each of the subjects, a need to express himself in artistic terms serves as the underlying personal motivation for

creative activity. Each choreographer expresses his or her personal philosophy of life in his or her work. This personal philosophy of life serves as the basis or reference point for all aspects of the creative process.

CREATIVE PROCESS

Another question for which answers were sought was based on the creative processes of the choreographers. There were similarities and differences between the three artists in terms of their creative processes.

Source of Ideas

Each of the choreographers attests to the fact that the ideas for his works come to him in many ways. Nikolais feels that any variety of factors may serve to trigger some association that has been building within his subconscious that will gradually reveal itself in the form of a piece. Louis and Lamhut feel that environmental factors and sensory factors frequently serve as the key that unlocks the creative premise for them. Both Louis and Lamhut stated that ideas for their works frequently come from within their emotional sensitivities. Nikolais and Louis agree that once the idea begins to take on a specific identity it then becomes the dominant factor in the creative process. Lamhut implied that she is flexible in this phase of her choreographic work in her statement concerning the process she uses when she encounters difficulty in the flow of her

creative process. She said that she asks herself if the work has taken on its own identity or whether it has retained the identity she originally intended it to have. She does not say that her works must retain the identity she originally perceived nor does she say that she allows the work to assume its own identity once it begins to make itself apparent. For each of the three choreographers in their individual creative processes the idea or subject matter for their works is perceived as being the result of a variety of influences. Each choreographer feels that the idea or subject matter of a particular work comes first and subsequently quides the development of the work as a whole in terms of: movement content, design elements, dynamics, spatial elements, time elements, sets, properties, projections (when used), form or structure of the piece. The idea or subject matter also serves as the choreographers' quide in the aesthetic evaluation of the work in progress and in its final form.

Preparation for Choreographing

The preparation that the three choreographers made for choreographing a work consisted of becoming submerged in the idea or premise of the work. All three choreographers go into the studio to create the movement for a particular work without any preconceived ideas of what the movement content will be for that particular work. One major difference in the approaches that the three choreographers utilize in the development of movement content for their works is

that Nikolais will in some instances establish environmental parameters and ask his dancers to improvise within these technical operatives. At other times he works much as Louis and Lamhut in that as a movement comes to him in the studio situation he tries it out on the dancers. While none of the choreographers made any specific preparations in terms of movement content before going into the studio to choreograph, they had become completely imbued with the idea or premise of the work from which the movement is developed.

Determination of the Structure

The form of the work is a factor that each of the three choreographers ultimately decides in differing ways. Louis and Nikolais believe that the choreographer has an innate sense of continence that allows him to direct the inherent aspects of the form as the work evolves. Lamhut clearly believes that the choreographer relies upon experience and intuition in the development of the inherent form for each work. Each of the three choreographers feels that the form or structure of the piece is inherent in the work itself. Each choreographer feels that the idea of the piece determines the movement content as well as the form of the piece.

Nikolais has to make some preliminary environmental "mockup" slides prior to a session in which he has his dancers improvise within that particular environment because he deals with a multimedia approach in his work. However his

preliminary preparations have no prior relationship to the movement content of his work. Nikolais' faith in the orderliness of his mental process, coupled with his concern for a particular kind of environment, guides his artistic sensitivities in terms of the "rightness" of the structure of the work. Once the thing gives an identity he feels he, "must be careful not to paw it over too much." He feels that, "one must guide the character of the work" at this point and must "take great care not to change its inherent character." His inherent feeling of form and concern for structure is the result of his work with Holm, whom he says "was meticulous about structure." Because Nikolais is concerned with environmental concepts as an integral part of his works he feels that his structure has been greatly influenced by technological developments and refinement throughout his career. He now sees his work as more "filmic" in nature than "choreographic in the old sense of the word." He said technological developments and the invention of the carrousel projector-changer have enabled him in his works to eradicate the unities of time and space with a mere click of a button.

Louis said that through the years his approach to structure has changed because his premises have changed. He feels that his current works seek to "probe the depths," of his subject matter. When he worked on groups of dances for a single program, the first selection for a program "might"

be structured to classical music." The middle work would be based "on certain poetic things" that had as structural focus, sustainment in time or the investigation of a small aspect of space. The final piece for the program would be, in Louis' words, "a big theatrical carnage." He feels that his sense of form has to do with his own inner lyricism; it is intuitive. He believes that "the human body has inherently a sense of continence when a thing is right and the human body intuitively orders itself toward that end." He is quick to admit that this sense of continence for him has been developed to a great degree and refined through his training and subsequent work in improvisation. Louis feels that each work has its own identity and that identity is the thing that leads him in directing its development. He stays with the premise, the identity, and with what he wants the audience to see in the work.

Lamhut feels that form or structure is the product of the choreographer's experience and intuition. She does reveal that she has a process of sorts that she thinks about when she "gets stuck." This process indicates that there is a certain logical order in her approach to the structuring of a work. In her own words she outlined this process:

I do something and then I evaluate. I have a sort of process that I think about when I get stuck. I think about certain rules and regulations: What have I done? What haven't I done? What does it need now? What doesn't it need? Where is the dynamic flow? What do I want to do spatially? What is the form of it? Is the form right? Am I structurally interesting? What is the nature of the dance? Which turn is it taking? Is it

what I started out to make it become, or is it something else? What is that something else? (119)

Lamhut said that she looks at her works to decide whether the work is that which she set out to make it become or whether it has taken on its own identity. She does not indicate which she prefers, to accept its evolving identity or to force it into what she originally intended to be its identity.

Apparently each of the subjects feels that the form or structure of a work is inherent in the work itself. fore we are led to conclude that each work has a structure that is singular and unique to the work itself. Louis and Nikolais believe that the choreographer has an innate sense of continence that allows him to direct the inherent development of the form. Lamhut clearly believes that the choreographer relies upon experience and intuition in the development of the inherent form for each work. If the "innate sense of continence" that Louis and Nikolais "allow to direct" their choreography, is parallel to Lamhut's "intuition," then all three choreographers would appear to depend upon the same artistic sensitivity in quiding the development of form in their dances. Then it may be said that each of the three choreographers feels that the aesthetic validity of his work depends upon his intuition and his artistic sensitivity that enable him to structure the evolving work as "it" determines its own identity.

Determination of Movement and Content

Another area of concern in the analysis of the choreographic process is that of movement itself. Where

does the idea for movement originate for each of the three choreographers? And how does each choreographer approach this aspect of his work? The divergent approaches of the three choreographers concerning the matter of movement development or creation of the actual movement content of a work focused primarily upon the differences in the philosophic positions of each of the choreographers. The similarities of approaches to the discovery or creation of movement for a piece were quite noticeable in the work of Louis and Lamhut. The preparation that the three choreographers made for this aspect of their work consisted of their becoming submerged in the idea or premise of the work.

All three subjects agree that the movement content for a work develops out of the idea or premise for that work. Nikolais is quite clear on his approach to movement. He says that he works in two different ways. He will, in some instances, show the dancers exactly what he wants in terms of movement or he will establish environmental parameters and ask the dancers to improvise movement within these technical operatives. In the latter case, he observes what is happening in terms of movement and if he sees something that "speaks" to him he can manipulate it and integrate it into a structure and into part of the piece. He feels that the creative feedback from his dancers is very valuable and he encourages their creative input in terms of movement. He also allows his dancers to create movements in which they

are encouraged to utilize any special qualities or technical abilities which they possess. These he also structures into the piece.

While both Louis and Lamhut create their own movements and do not rely upon the improvisational contributions of their dancers for the movement content of their works, they may do so upon rare occasions. Louis allows his dancers to contribute solutions to situations which he specifically outlines. Upon rare occasions he verbally gives his dancers the steps and the dynamics and perhaps the energy necessary for a particular section and then he sees what they can do with these in terms of movements or phrases. There are other times when he comes to special things in the piece where he is aware that one of his dancers can do extraordinary things, such as leaps, falls or extensions, and he will then tell that dancer what he wants and allow the dancer to work out the movement or phrase for his appraisal. He is emphatic on one point; he sets virtually everything in his works himself and does not work through improvisation with his material. Lamhut asks her dancers for movement ideas only when she reaches an impasse in her movement ideas. She stressed that she did not ask the help of her dancers on a regular basis. It should perhaps be brought to the reader's attention that improvisation with material or on material differs from improvisation to find or discover material.

Louis has a unique approach to movement content. goes into the studio to create a dance without any preconceived idea of what the movement content for a specific work will be. Having first become imbued with the area and nature of his premise he then becomes, in his own words, "an amazing kind of schizophrenic machine." He explained this description of himself by saying that he allows his "dancer aspect" to listen to and then create and demonstrate what his "choreographer aspect" wants to do. He even talks aloud to "the choreographer aspect" of him while he is involved in this creative activity as "the dancer." This creating the movement takes place in the studio with his dancers present. As the process evolves, his dancers learn the movement as it is created in a follow-the-leader fashion. While he is involved in this movement creation process it is important to note that Louis feels he is demonstrating the way in which the work wants to go. He said he feels that the work takes on its own identity once he "gets inside the thing" he is seeking to create. Louis feels that he creates virtually everything that goes into his works. Lamhut said that she very rarely defines specifically what she is going to be doing in terms of movement when she goes into the studio to choreograph a work. She said that she "always seems to move with some sort of space in mind; space, such as air, for example," where she feels "a dance in the process of creation can grow." She emphasized that she does not need her

dancers as a source of ideas for her works. All three choreographers felt that the ideas for movement developed out of the premise or idea for the work.

EFFECTS OF DEADLINES

Deadlines for finishing dances for performances affected the three choreographers differently. Nikolais and Lamhut felt that the pressure of performance deadlines served a purpose for them in that it pushes them to complete a piece on a specific time schedule. This completion then enables them to view the dance as a whole and therefore evaluate it in a different light. Louis said he refuses to work under the pressure of a strict time schedule. He believes that it is unprofessional to finish a work minutes before it is to be performed. He prefers to set his own schedule for the completion of a work far enough in advance of performance to allow it to mellow. This early completion then enables him to remove himself from the work in order to evaluate it from another point of view. So the push for process completion is a means of allowing for testing the material in a preview performance for Lamhut; and for Nikolais it is the factor that compels him to finish a piece on schedule, while Louis finds his own schedule suitable for his evaluative purposes. Apparently in most cases completion of the work is the beginning of a final evaluation phase for that work.

Progression or Sequence of Choreographing

The choreographic process for each artist grows out of the idea for the dance. The idea, the form and the process of structuring the dance grows, in turn, out of the personal and aesthetic philosophies of the choreographer. All three choreographers follow the same relative sequence or progression in choreographing their dances. First each choreographer has an idea or premise for a dance. Then after submerging himself in the area of concern or in the idea for the piece he goes into the studio to create the movement content for the dance. Nikolais says that in his total theatre approach to dance he must set up some semblance of what he senses is the environment with which he is concerned, and then his dancers can begin to move. Louis uses his "dancer aspect" to create what his "choreographer aspect" wants to do and this is done with his company present in the Then in a follow-the-leader fashion he and the comstudio. pany learn the movement as it is revealed through his dancer aspect. Lamhut works with some idea of space or time in mind as she creates her movements. After she has created the movement she teaches it to her dancers. Here one sees the major differences in the approaches that the choreographers utilize in the development of the movement content for their works. Nikolais frequently has his dancers improvise as a means of discovering and then establishing the movement content for his works. Louis and Lamhut create their own

movements and do not rely, as a rule, upon the improvisational contributions of their dancers for the movement content of their works. Occasionally Louis and Lamhut ask their dancers for movement input, and occasionally Nikolais will spell out for his dancers specifically what he wants in terms of movement content. All three choreographers rely upon their intuition and artistic experience in determining the form and movement content of a work. Each choreographer feels that the idea of the piece determines the form or structure of that particular piece. Each of the three choreographers feels that the form or structure of the piece is inherent in the work itself. All three choreographers evaluate the work throughout its entire developmental process. Each of the choreographers relies upon his intuition and artistic sensitivity in determining when a work is complete. Nikolais says, "it's like a conversation; you know when you have said it. But because it is abstract you have to make certain that you have said what you set out to say." For all three choreographers the content and the process are so interrelated that only the satisfaction of the content, in terms of idea and structure, can determine whether the work is complete or not. This judgment is felt to be the intuitive and aesthetic province of the choreographer by all three subjects. The personal and aesthetic philosophies of the three choreographers led each of them to the ultimate selection of the idea for a work; it guided them in their mental

preparation for the work; it served to direct the selection of movement materials; and it affected the structure of that material. Each choreographer knew when a work was completed through an aesthetic awareness that was sensitive to the idea, movement content and structure of the evolving idea or premise.

USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

Each of the choreographers encourages creative contributions by his dancers but to differing degrees. Nikolais seems to utilize the creative contributions of his dancers to the greatest degree in that he frequently explains the environmental and technical parameters of the piece and then has his dancers improvise within the setting or situation in order to find the movement content for a particular work. He then selects the movements that "speak" to him and structures these movements into his work. Louis sometimes sets up specific guidelines or movement problems and has his dancers develop movements or phrases based upon these directives and then uses what he deems appropriate to the work. Lamhut does not call upon her dancers for movement contributions unless she comes to an impasse in her own creation of movement. She said that she does not ask her dancers for their help often in her creative work.

Non Choreographic Contributions by Dancers

Inherent in the philosophies of Nikolais and Louis is that which they ask of their dancers in terms of performance. Nikolais feels that the dancer must become a part of the environment in order to communicate the idea that man is a part of the universe. For Nikolais each dancer is a part of a greater totality and must function within that environment "thereby losing his individuality but becoming greater by becoming a part of a larger universal whole." In his works he expects the dancer to become a part of the sum total of the idea which is being communicated aesthetically. Louis feels that, "the universe is communicated to man through man," and therefore feels that it is the responsibility of the dancer to bring to the performance the skills of performing transitions, dynamics and quality. He feels that these performing skills enable the dancers to serve as a conduit through which the universe is communicated to man. Lamhut feels that it is important for her dancers to be trained creatively as well as technically because she feels the better dancer has more to him than his physical ability. She feels the dancer must have a feeling for the movement, a feeling for the creative idea, a feeling for the choreography; and all of these are enhanced, in her opinion, by a feeling for improvisation. Lamhut's philosophic statement that stresses the importance of experience is tied into her view of the role of the dancer.

EVALUATION

Evaluation techniques are an area of primary concern for anyone interested in the choreographic process. How does the professional choreographer approach this aspect of his work? When does the choreographer evaluate his works? What are the criteria he uses for evaluating a choreographic work? How does the choreographer utilize evaluation techniques in his work?

Occurrence of Evaluation

All three choreographers evaluate their works throughout the choreographic process. Each choreographer, however, has a different view of how this phase of his work is accomplished. Nikolais views the evolution of his works from in front of the stage since he is not a dancer. watches the work evolve on a minute by minute basis and constantly evaluates what is happening. Once the work begins to take on its identity and its form he feels that it is his responsibility to guide its development and is careful not to interfere with its developing character. Louis said that he must evaluate his works from the stage out because he is a dancer. He feels he has to know how the work is being perceived by the audience. He feels that he knows intuitively when something is wrong with a movement or a This he feels is due to his innate sense of rightness and form which has been developed and refined through

years of work with improvisation. When he senses that something is wrong with a movement or a phrase he might allow it to go by in rehearsals a few times then he either corrects the thing that is wrong or he removes it from the piece and then ties together that which remains. Louis always has to know how his dances are communicating through the dancer's instrument. He evaluates his works aesthetically throughout the entire creative process. Lambut said that the ability to create a work and the ability to evaluate aesthetically is the product of the choreographer's experience and intuition. She stated that she does something and then she evaluates. When she "is stuck" she has a mental process that she goes through in order to overcome the impasse. This process was outlined on page ninety two of this chapter. The process includes elements of evaluation as it was quoted. Lamhut said that intuition and the artistic "X factors" that the artist possesses enable the artist to evaluate aesthetically. hut relies upon her intuition and experience in determining what is wrong in her works. She has a list of questions that she uses to assist her in evaluating problems in her works. These are the same questions that are included in her process on page ninety two of this chapter. If she sees something in a work that she does not like she changes it. She says that when she works she is usually into her work implying that she evaluates from the standpoint of the dancer; then she says that she removes herself from the work and evaluates it from

a different vantage point. That different vantage point is from the audience's point of view.

Evaluation as an Artistic Responsibility

All three choreographers believe that the evaluation of the work is the sole responsibility and province of the choreographer. Each of the subjects feels the responsibility for the aesthetic content of his works. Nikolais feels that only the choreographer of a piece can serve as its critic because he feels that the personal judgement of the choreographer serves as the criterion for evaluating a piece. Nikolais says that it is often valuable for him to have someone whose opinion he respects view a work with him because this might serve to make him more aware of what is happening in the work and might serve to affirm his artistic judgements. However, he feels that the evaluation of the work is ultimately up to him as the creator of the work. Nikolais said that having performed his works all over the world to a variety of ethnic groups serves as an affirmation to him as a choreographer that his works contain something of value. This affirmation serves to re-enforce Nikolais' faith in his ability to evaluate the aesthetic validity of that which he seeks to communicate. Louis states that the only person other than himself whose opinion he respects with regard to his works is Nikolais because he knows what Louis is doing. Louis feels that he alone must evaluate his In order to make his final evaluations of a work works.

Louis said that he must separate himself in time from the process of creating the work. He then feels his evaluations can take on new dimensions. Lambut views the preview of her works as a test of the choreography. She feels that after she has seen her works outside of the studio rehearsal hall she can then decide if changes need to be made in a work. She also said that she does not often make changes in her works. Lambut feels that she must evaluate her choreography alone.

Effects of Critics and Incentive for Changes

Nikolais said that he rarely notes the opinions of critics. He very seldom reads critical reviews of his works. He pointed out that as a choreographer whose works have been criticized as being dehumanized and too abstract, he would not be able to continue to produce works that he feels are of value if he listened to critics. All three choreographers feel that the opinions of critics should not have any effect on the work of the choreographer. Lamhut stated that experience, intuition and the artistic "X factors" enable the choreographer to evaluate his work. She said she tries to finish her works far enough ahead of performance deadlines to preview them outside of New York. She feels that a preview performance enables her to evaluate her work in a different light. She views the preview performance as a test. She believes that only the creator of a work is

capable of evaluating the work; so she does not worry about the critic.

CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY

In Chapters III, IV, and V statements made by Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis, and Phyllis Lamhut were related to the questions stated on page 18 as basic to the study. Charts showing the answers of each artist to the questions basic to the study were placed in the appendices. Chapter VI has been a comparison of the three artists' statements in response to the same basic questions. The chart at the conclusion of this chapter may be used to compare the choreographers' responses to the questions basic to this study. A comparative analysis of the choreographic processes of the three subjects has been placed after the chart of key responses as a brief summary of findings.

Chapter VII is a summary of the purpose and background of the study and the procedures used in the study followed by findings derived from interviews with the subjects and the implications derived from these findings.

COMPARISON CHART OF KEY RESPONSES BY NIKOLAIS, LOUIS AND LAMHUT TO QUESTIONS BASIC TO THE STUDY

I. MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY

A. Need for artistic expression.

Nikolais

Louis

Lamhut

Creating is a habit for me. I feel a need to communicate aesthetically.

Creating is a compulsion for me. I feel the need to communicate aesthetically. I find I have very few other ways of coming into the world except through my art.

I create because it is a part of my nature. I feel the need to create.

- B. Need to express personal and artistic philosophy.
 - 1. Personal philosophy

Man is a fellow traveller within the total universal mechanism rather than a god from which all things flow. Man is a part of the total universe. The universe is communicated to man through man.

I see life in a comic-tragic way. There are dances of death in everything I do. I am stimulated by everything around me, and I try to give it my point of view

and hope that I enrich what I do in relation to the audience.

a. Used for all aspects of creative process. For multimedia

work I have to set up some things prior to my going to rehearsal. I will somehow or other sense that somewhere within me I am concerned with a particular kind of environment. . . . I will try to make that visible through some mockup of mockup slides which will be projected at, on or around the Then dancers. I'll have costumers and technical crew come in and within the technical operatives that I have set I will have

When I work I have a premise. I stay with the premise that is what leads me into how I direct it. I stay with what I want the audience to see. I am concerned with illumination, with insights, with a kind of poetry versus I have alprose. ways been a dancer and I know how much a dancer can do. also know how the little things the dancer does have a very direct way of getting into an audience. I try to work through the audience rather than awing them

into acceptance.

I always seem to move with some sort of space-air, for example, where a dance in the creative process can grow. . . . I ask myself, What is the nature of the dance? Is it what I started out to make it become or is it something else? My process starts from a variety of possible sources. Sometimes it starts with a musical inspiration, sometimes it starts with a motional inspiration, sometimes it starts through a kind of idea or vision that I have in my soul and I try to get it out.

the dancers move. Sometimes I direct it and show the dancers specifically what I want. Other times I'll say, "Here is the environment. Will you please improvise within it so that I can see what will happen?" It must speak to me. At the moment the thing begins to take form I let it ride. As a professional I work from a point of view of faith.

2. Aesthetic philosophy

As art - dance is the art of motion, not movement. To me motion is primary - it is the condition of motion which culminates in emotion. Dancers serve as a conduit through which the universe is communicated to man. I am very concerned with illumination and insights. Communication through dance.

I want the audience to have a kinetic and aesthetic stimulation when they see my work. The humor must be instrinsic in the movement.

a. Related to artistic philosophy.

The dancer must subdue himself as an individual and becomes greater by becoming a part of a much greater thing. Aesthetic communication takes place through motion or in terms of abstract that audience. theatre the way I do it. The process is involved in the identity of the thing. Once the thing gives an identity, then it becomes the master and you have to make sure you don't paw over it too much. It's like a conversation. you know when you have said it. I have enough faith in the mental process, of the orderliness of it, to know that if I allow it to come out freely it will be coherent.

T can reveal ideas to other people through a structure called a dance. Each work has its own identity. I stay with the thing I want the audience to see. I know how I am going to direct always have to know how my dances are communicating through the dancer's instrument. I work from the stage out. I imbue myself with the area and nature of the thing I'm going to do. Then I just open the flood gates and then it happens. I let it flow and I just sneak it through. I demonstrate which way it wants to go.

I choreograph to stimulate the awareness of the audience to what I am doing. I just communicate very directly. The intuition. the "X factor." the artistic "X factors," are all involved in creating a work. Everything I know and experience goes into practical application. Sometimes the push for process completion is verv important because then it [the work] becomes alive and you are happy and you know what you have. Once I state it, I think I'm pretty clear.

II. CREATIVE PROCESS

A. Source of ideas
(subject matter
resulting in the
content of the
dance.)

I might just be walking through nature and I'll see something that will make a connection with my Rorschach and bring me to an association which has been there all the time or has been fed from a variety of sources. But that is the thing that causes it to take action.

The stimulation for a new dance comes from all sorts of places, from a pedestrian, from the teacher me, from the dancer me, from the creative They come me. through visual stimulation. While teaching a class the clarification of what I am doing wrong can be the motivation for a new dance. I keep open to ideas for new dances and when they occur, I consciously nail them. Within each work the germinal seed for the next work is being formed. I let myself go with it far enough to see it then I go back to the work I am doing at the time.

I am usually motivated by everything around me, nature, life, whatever. For me the motivation is very versatile. Sometimes it starts with a musical inspiration, sometimes with a motional inspiration, sometimes it starts through a vision that I have of an idea. not necessarily have in concrete terms , but with some kind of idea that I have emotionally in my soul and I try to get it out.

- B. Factors determining.
 - 1. Structure

The identity of the thing itself. Technology has changed my structure.
The structure of the piece of course depends upon the content of it and whether the content has been evidently satisfied.

Form has to do with . my own inner lyricism. Form is passed on, form is inherited in the human body. It is a genetic thing. Nik calls it balance. There is within the human body a sense of continence when a thing is right and the human body intuitively orders itself towards that. Especially in creators there is the sense of what the form for a particular thing should be. It is a sense of form. At one time in my career I choreographed in terms of whole programs. Three works in each program. The opening work was my big structured work, it might have been structured to some

The intuition, the "X factor," the artistic "X factors," all of these things are involved. Everything falls into practical application, into what I know, into experiences. I have a sort of process that I think about when I get stuck. . . . What is the form of it? Is the form right? Am I structurally interesting? . . .

classical music with structural clarity as one of my goals. The middle work would be a poetic work, in which I would probe into the materials. And the final work would be a big theatrical carnage. The grasp of the subject matter, the effort and range of materials has changed. I began to work at deeper levels with my premises.

2. Flow - Continence

I somehow sense that somewhere within me I am concerned with a particular kind of environment and I will begin to try to make that visible through some mockup of mockup slides which will be projected at,

Each work has its own identity. That is what leads me into how I direct it. stay with its premise. it is going well, I stay with the thing I want the audience to see. know how I am going to direct that audience. Through years of improvising I have learned to

Sometimes I'll say, "Well, it's not going very well today, or or it's not this or that, or what it is. I can remove myself from it and then deal with it as I see it after I leave it. I

on, or around, the I'll then dancers. have the technical people come in with the dancers and even the costumer and we'll put costumes on the dancers that will perhaps work within the technical operatives that we have set up. Then we will start to move. Sometimes I will direct it and very specifically show the dancers what I want. Other times I'll sav, "Here is the environment. Will you please improvise within it so that I can see what will happen". At the moment when the thing begins to take form I let it ride. You come back again to the whole process. The process is also involved in the identity of the thing. Once the thing gives an identity, then

understand the intuitive decisions. When a phrase says, dum bump, it says it is finished. I have learned that this business of finishing a work ten minutes before it is to be performed is unprofessional. I simply don't work under the horrible stress of deadlines any more.

do something and then I evaluate. I think about certain rules and regulations: What have I done? What haven't I done? What does it need now? What doesn't it need? Where is the dynamic flow? What do I want to do spatially? . . . What is the nature of the dance? Which turn is it taking? Is it what I started out to make it become, or is it something else? What is that something else. Everything falls into practical application, into what I know, into experiences. You usually have a deadline for performing a work so the work has to be ready. I've always pushed

Nikolais

Louis

Lamhut

it becomes the master and you have to make sure you don't paw it over too much. Because it is the thing I very often find myself saying, "It wants to do this," not, "I want to do this." It is like a child, you quide its character. . . . you have to have faith in its inherent moralities. . . . I work on a time schedule in order to complete works on time. This time schedule forces me to complete a designated number of minutes in a work per day.

through to meet performances and lately I've been trying to preview out of town the things I've pushed through earlier than I expect. Sometimes the push for process [completion] is very important because then it the work becomes alive and you are happy and you know what you have. You can always go back and fix it if you don't like what you have.

3. Movement

I very often go [into create a work] with very

I don't start choreographing [movement]until

I very rarely define specifically what

Louis

limited thought in my conscious mind of what I am going to do. Of course in multimedia work I will have to set up some things prior to my going into rehearsal. I'll set up some technical operatives, bring in technical people and costumers and put costumes that will perhaps work on the dancers and then we start to move. Sometimes I will direct it specifically and show the dancers exactly what I want. Other times I will say, "Here is the environment. demonstrate which Will you please improvise within it so I can see what me to create the happens." Then if something happens or it begins to speak back to me, then I know it will speak to an audience. At the

I begin the dance. Until I'm in the mood. I don't plan anything. I just become so imbued with the area and the nature of what I am going to do. I just open the flood gates and then it happens. I let it flow and I just sneak it through very quickly. have no preparation for what the steps may be until I get inside the thing. When I choreograph I am an amazing kind of schizophrenic machine. talk to myself. let it [the dance] [movement] flow. way it wants to go. I use the dancer steps that the choreographer me is doing. I do this talking to myself and the follow-the-leader kind of process

I am going to be doing. I always seem to move with some sort of space - air, for example, where a dance in the creative process can grow. I do allow input by my dancers when I am choreographing. I usually have a lot to say and a lot to do, and then when I get stuck I ask them. "What should I do next?" Sometimes I ask them and sometimes I don't. I work freely.

moment the thing begins to take form I let it ride. With mv dancers there is definite feedback. I can manipulate their feedback into a structure and into part of a piece. It isn't a re-creation: it is a creation. So the process is to allow it to come out. I, in effect, just spew, spew, spew, and then try afterwards to try to put it in order and make sense of that outpouring. I have enough faith in the orderliness of the mental process to know that if I allow it to come out freely it will be coherent. So the process is to allow it to come out.

right there in the studio with my dancers watching and listening. I create pretty much everything [in a piece]. [Sometimes] I just give my dancers the steps and many times the dynamics and perhaps the energy necessary, and I see what thev can do. Or if I come to special things where I know some kids can do extraordinary leaps or falls or extensions, I just talk those out. I say, "Here I want this kind of fall. You work it out." On the whole, I pretty much set things. I don't work through improvisation with my material.

III. USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

Creative input by dancers.

I'll ask the dancers to improvise within an environment so I can see what happens. With my dancers there is definite feedback. I can manipulate that feedback into a structure and into part of a piece. My dancers are taught to improvise and to react to environmental change, dynamic change, so that they give back very generously. This enables us to create special roles for special dancers too, which proves to their advantage because they come up with stylistic behaviorisms that let's say speak a little more eloquently of them than one

I create pretty much everything [in a piecel. just give my dancers the steps and many times the dynamics and perhaps the energy necessary, and I see what they can do. Or if I come to special things where I know some kids can do extraordinary leaps or falls or extensions, I just talk those out. I say, "Here I want this kind of fall. You work it out." Mv dancers are trained in improvi-They lend sation. so much.

I do allow input by my dancers Sometimes I when I am choreographing. When I get stuck I ask them, "What should I do next?" Sometimes I ask them and sometimes I don't. I do not need, as an area of source, help from the dancers. But I do not ask them too often. . . . it is important for the dancer to be trained creatively as well as technically.

Nikolais

Louis

Lamhut

imposed upon them from another mind. A modern dance [choreographer] depends a great deal upon the feedback from the dancer.

B. Other input by dancers.

The dancer must subdue himself and become part of the environment. What I ask from my dancers is performance and to that performance they have to bring the skills of performing. Their duty is to do transitions, dynamics and quality. The better dancer is the dancer who has more to him than his physical ability. He has to have feeling for the movement, feeling for the creative idea, feeling for the choreography, and a feeling for improvisation.

IV. EVALUATION

A. Choreographers' approach.

The identity of the thing becomes the master. Each step of the way must be challenged aesthetically as to whether or not

I am the choreographer whose
concern is his
aesthetic judgement and his
ability to
structure movement. I have a

The intuition, the "X factor," the artistic "X factors," all of these things are involved in [aesthetic] evaluation.

it was the correct wav. I very often find myself saying, "It wants to do this, " not, "I want to do this." It must speak to me; otherwise it will speak tom one. To me art is a form of aesthetic communication. Creating a piece is like a conversation. You know when you've said it. . . . vou have to make sure that you've said it because it is abstract. You have to have a sense of when it's been said. premise when I work and that is what leads me in develop-The way ing a work. I determine form is from my own inner lyricism. Through vears of improvising I have learned to understand the intuitive decisions. When a phrase says, dum bump, it says it is finished. I must evaluate my work from the stage out because I am a dancer. When I see something wrong in a piece I intuitively know that you sense that it is wrong. I try very hard to compose a piece as early as I can. I have to get away from it, and the evaluations have to be on another level. In the heat of my work, of my working process and in the heat of my irritations I cannot evaluate it [the

Everything into practical application, into what I know, into experiences. Sometimes I'll say, "Well, it's not going very well today, or it is going well, or it's not this or that, or what it is." I can remove myself from it and then deal with it as I see it after I leave it. It's painful work when you have something good and have to live up to the occasion, or you know you don't have something good and have to try to salvage it. And then how to get to the point, to know when it is good and when it is not good, is also very painful.

piece]. I must divorce myself from all that and see it openly and directly. And that takes a little bit of time to get away from it.

You need a lot of experience. I do something and then I evaluate. I have a sort of process that I think about when I get stuck. I think about certain rules and regulations. . . . While I'm working I look into it. I'm always out of it looking into it. While I'm making it I'm usually into it. Then I pull myself out of it to look at it and see. This is all done psychically.

B. Artistic responsibility.

There is no one except one's self that can serve as one's critic. There is no one at all who can take the In terms of aesthetic evaluation I have to go it alone. I evaluate aesthetically throughout the process. The The choreographer is the only one who can evaluate his work. place of your own personal judgement. You can have someone affirm it, or perhaps by having someone whose thinking you respect sit next to you, you may become more akeyed to yourself in looking at it, so what they say will help fortify. First, of course, I make the judgement; it is a very lonely process, but it must be made by the choreographer who created it himself. I will frequently call the dancers and have the other dancers watch and I will get their reactions. And, of course, Murray and I will look at each other's works also and give out reactions to each other and that's pretty valuable.

only person, other than myself, whose aesthetic judgement I even consider is Nik. Nik because he knows what I'm doing. C. Critics and audience reactions.

Critics' opinions I almost never regard. I rarely read reviews written about me. If I listened to critics I would stop doing many of the abstract expressions which actually make the substance of what I am with my mode of communication. So, of course, I can't listen to it, even though I might respect the person. As a performer you always have a fortification of the work or an affirmation of it based on its acceptance by audiences. I have been fortunate in that I've played to all sorts of ethnic groups all over the world. So if a thing works here and it works in Japan and it works

A critic is never important enough to make you change anything. I choreograph for my audiences really, because dance is a performing art. I know how I am going to direct that audience into its response. I have to get away from a piece and look at it to tell how the audience is going to react. I have to go it alone. This business of finishing a work ten minutes before it is to be performed is unprofessional. It does not do justice to the work.

I've always pushed through to meet performances and lately I've been trying to preview out of town the things I've pushed through earlier than I expect. Sometimes the push for process is very important because then it Tthe work 7 becomes alive and you are happy and vou know what you have. You can always go back and fix it if you don't like what you have. I always like to finish the work early enough so my dancers can involve themselves in it and there are not the last minute changes

Nikolais

Louis

Lamhut

in Tunisia, and it
works in Taipei or
Paris, then there
must be something
that I am doing
right.

to make. Although I really don't change too much, I change certain things that I don't like. I do try to preview my works out of the city. Because then I'm playing for audiences and the dancers have the experience of performing out of the rehearsal studio in the real situation. When we come back we can see what it was - what it felt like and how people responded to it. It's a test.

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE CHOREOGRAPHIC PROCESSES OF NIKOLAIS, LOUIS AND LAMHUT

T. MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY

A. Need for artistic expression.

Nikolais

Louis

Lamhut

Habit. Need to communiate aesthetically.

Compulsion. Need to communicate aesthetically. Feels he has very few other ways of coming into the world except through his art.

Is a part of her nature. Need to create.

- B. Need to express personal and artistic philosophy.
 - 1. Personal philosophy

Universal basis. Man is a part of the universe and must perform within the total environment.

Universal basis.
Man is the vehicle through which the universe is communicated to man.

Universal basis. Stimulated by everything around her she tries to give her works her point of view. There are dances of death in everything she does because she views life in a comic-tragic manner.

a. Aspects of the choreographic process affected by personal and artistic philosophy.

All aspects: environmental and technical parameters, costuming, movement, flow. structure and evaluation. Process completion is viewed as being affected by time limitations. Works from point of view of faith in the orderliness of his mental process. Ideas for dances come from a variety of personal experiences and intuition. Often stimulated by some environmental happening.

All aspects: premise, movement, structure, flow, evaluation. Process completion is not viewed as being affected by time limitations. Concerned with poetic illumination and insights. Works as a dancer from the stage out and feels his intuition is his artistic quide. Premises for dances come from a variety of sources both external and internal. tries to probe depths of premises.

All aspects: premise, movement, flow, structure. evaluation. Process completion affected by time limitations. Process related to personal experience and intuition. Process stems from a variety of sources. music, motion, emotional.

b. Factors related to aesthetic philosophy.

View of the role of the dancer. Purpose of aesthetic communication. The identity of the work determines content, Purpose of choreographer. Revelation of ideas through a structure called dance. Identity of premise determines

Purpose in relation to the audience. Direct communication, Method related to

Nikolais

structure, and creative process. For Nikolais, dance is the art of motion and motion is primary. Process completion. Evaluation.

Louis

content, structure, and the artist's process. Role of the dancer. Illumination and insights communicated through dance. Process completion. Evaluation.

Lamhut

intuition, the "X factor," the artistic "X factor," and to experience and practical application. Process completion. Evaluation.

II. CREATIVE PROCESS

A. Factors affecting source of ideas.

Variety of sources. Variety of sources. Usually something in nature stimu— a pedestrian, or lates an associa— visual stimulation. May come from the been there all the time and triggers a dancer, or creative aspect of his

May be prompted by a pedestrian, or visual stimulation. May come from the choreographer as a dancer, or creative aspect of his personality or they may be the result of teaching experiences. Also the germinal seed for a new work may be found in the work currently being choreographed. Variety of sources. Usually motivated by everything around her: nature, life, whatever. May start with a musical inspiration, a motional inspiration or with some kind of idea the choreographer has emotionally in her soul.

Louis

B. Factors determining.

1. Structure

Choreographer's recognition of the identity of the thing (idea inherent in the work itself) itself. Technology has changed the choreographer's structure. Nikolais feels the structure of the piece depends upon the content of the piece and whether the content has been evidently satisfied from the choreographer's standpoint.

Feels that form is dependent upon his inner lyricism. He views form as a genetic or inherited sense.

Intuition, the
"X factor," the
artistic "X factors," are all
involved in the
choreographer's
determination
of form.
Experience and
personal knowledge are
involved.
Follows a mental
process.

2. Flow - Continence

Intuitive. Stems from environment. Order of development: Environment, technical parameters, costumes, movement-specifically outlined or improvisational leading

Intuitive. In creators there is a sense of what the form for a particular thing should be. The premise is the thing that directs him in determining the

Intuitive. Based on the choreographer's experience and knowledge. Has a mental process when she gets stuck. Stays with her idea in determining flow.

Nikolais

Louis

Lamhut

to structured movement. Nikolais emphasizes that you come back again to the whole process. The process for him is also involved in the identity of the thing being created. A time schedule forces Nikolais to complete a work.

flow. Feels that each work has its own identity. Refuses to work under pressure of time. Evaluates the flow of the process on a day to day basis. Time schedule serves as factor in completion of work. Meets the schedule and then makes corrections when necessary.

3. Movement

No preliminary conscious plans for movement. Sets up environmental and technical operatives then either specifically directs or shows the dancers what he wants or asks them to improvise within the environment. If something speaks to him he takes it and structures it into the piece. He views movement as a creation not a re-creation. His

Does not plan any movement until he goes into the studio to choreograph a work. He simply becomes imbued with the area and the nature of what he is going to do. Then he opens the flood gates and lets it flow. He talks to himself allowing the dancer aspect of his personality to demonstrate what the choreographer aspect of Rarely defines specifically what she will be doing. Always seems to move with some sort of space in mind in order to allow the dance to develop. When she gets stuck she might ask her dancers for movement ideas. She feels she works freely and is free to ask her dancers for ideas when she needs

view of his process is to spew, spew, spew and then put order into the outpouring. his personality dictates. He does not work through improvisation. He creates pretty much everything in a piece. He does at times tell his dancers what he wants and allows them to develop it.

help. She does not ask her dancers for their help often.

III. USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

Does frequently ask his dancers to improvise within an environment. There is definite feedback from his dancers. This feedback he manipulates into a structure and into part of a piece. His dancers are taught to improvise and to react to environmental change and dynamic change. He feels they give back generously. enables him to create special roles for special

Does not work through improvisation with his work. Sometimes he gives his dancers the steps, the dynamics and the energy necessary and sees what they can Or if he comes to special things that he knows his dancers do well he might tell them what he wants and allow them to develop these for a piece. His dancers are trained in improvisation. He says they lend a great deal. What he asks from his dancers is performance

Does occasionally allow input by her dancers when she becomes stuck for movement. She does not need, as an area of source. help from her It is dancers. important to her that the dancer is trained creatively as well as technically. She feels that the better dancer is the dancer who has more to him than his physical ability.

dancers which embody their own stvlistic behaviorisms rather than those imposed upon them from another mind. He feels the modern dance choreographer depends a great deal upon the feedback from the dancer. Will frequently have his dancers watch a piece and get their feedback. Considers the reactions of audiences all over he directs their the world as an affirmation of the aesthetic quality of a work. If it works for all sorts of ethnic groups all over the world he feels that he must be doing something right.

and to that performance they have to bring the skills of performing. He feels that it is their duty to do transitions. dynamics and quality in performing. In performance he tries to work through the audience. He knows how he wants the audience to react and reactions through his choreography.

He must have feeling for: the movement. the creative idea, the choreography and a feeling for improvisation. Tries to preview works out of town because in this situation she can see what the work was, what it felt like and how people responded to it. It's a test.

IV. **EVALUATION**

Α. Artist's approach.

The identity of the thing becomes the master. Each step

The premise of a work is the factor that leads him in

In her process she implies that she constantly

of the wav must be challenged aesthetically. Often finds himself saving, "It wants to do this, " not, "I want to do this." Because art for him is a form of aesthetic communication and because his work is abstract he feels that he has to make certain that he has said what he thinks he has said in thing is wrong in a a piece. He feels he has to have a sense of when it's been said.

developing the work. He feels that he must evaluate his work from the stage out because he is a dancer. Because of years of improvising he feels that he has developed the ability to understand than that which the intuitive decisions such as knowing when a phrase She is not or section says it is definite on finished. When some- whether she adpiece he knows it intuitively. He tries to complete a work early so he can get away from it and allow his evaluations identity. She to take on another dimension. He evaluates aesthetically throughout the process.

refers back to what she started out to make the work become. She mentally monitors the process to see if the work is becoming something other she set out to make it become. heres to what she intended the work to become or whether she allows it to develop its own does say that her intuition. the creative and artistic "X factors," and her own experiences and knowledges are determining factors in her evaluation. does something and then she evaluates. She

sometimes says, "Well, it is going very well today, or it's not going well, or whatever. She can remove herself from it and then deal with it as she sees it after she leaves it. While creating a work she speaks of being into it and being outside of it looking into it while evaluating it. After a work is previewed she feels that she knows for sure what she has and if changes are needed she then makes them. She does not make changes often. Evaluation for her is a psychicintuitive process.

Nikolais

Artist's B. Responsibility. There is no one

except one's self that can serve as one's critic. No one can take the place of one's personal judgement. he even considers One might have someone affirm his judgement by having a person whom he respects watch a work and then get his reaction. But only the choreographer who created the work can make the judgements. Nikolais frequently has his dancers and Murray watch his works and then gets their reactions. These reactions he considers to be of value.

In terms of aesthetic evaluation Louis savs he has to go it alone. The only other person whose aesthetic judgement is Nikolais.

Implies that she is the only source of aesthetic evaluation for her works. She says that a great deal of experience is necessary in order for one to know whether a work is good or bad. For her the intuitive. artistic "X factors" are involved in the artist's evaluative process as are his experience and knowledge. She stated that her previews serve as a test for her works.

CHAPTER VII

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The first portion of this chapter will have as its focus a summary of the purpose and background of the study and the procedures used in the study. The second portion of this chapter will focus on the findings derived from interviews with the subjects Nikolais, Louis and Lamhut. The final portion of this chapter will present the implications obtained from the actual responses of the choreographers.

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

each of three professional choreographers felt to be his choreographic process and to present an analysis and comparison of the information derived from interviews with the three subjects. It was felt that the information obtained from the study would be valuable to those who were engaged in developing or expanding their creative abilities and their choreographic processes. Studies related to the actual choreographic processes of professional choreographers have apparently been neglected in the past.

For the purposes of this study four areas of primary concern to the investigation of the choreographic process were selected for inquiry, analysis, and comparison. Because

these four areas appear basic to the choreographic process, it was felt that information relating to these would be most helpful to the development of choreographers at any stage of choreographic experience.

PROCEDURES USED IN THE STUDY

Initially, a search of the literature in areas similar in nature to the study revealed a commonly used approach for the investigation of creative processes. That approach commonly being used, identifies recognized professionals in the field in question and then these individuals are interviewed in regard to their own perceptions of their creative processes. This method of inquiry was deemed appropriate for the investigation of the choreographic processes of each of three professional choreographers.

The criteria were established for the selection of the three subjects. The four main areas of inquiry for the study were determined and the questions of basic concern to the study and their underlying theoretical rationale were formulated. Following the determination of the questions basic to the study and the formulation of their theoretical rationale the questions to be used in the interviews with the subjects were constructed.

Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis and Phyllis Lamhut were selected as subjects for the study because: they were professional choreographers who were recognized and accepted

by the public and by dancers as outstanding artists; they were articulate as evidenced by their writings or by the writings of others based upon interviews with them, which was further confirmed by the fact that all three of them are teachers of outstanding reputation; and they had a common background of dance training and similar professional vocabularies. Each of the choreographers consented to be interviewed and to participate as a subject for the study.

Questions were developed to obtain information from the subjects in areas of: motivation for choreography; the creative process; the use and function of the dancers; and The interviews with each of the three subjects evaluation. were taped in their New York studios and the responses were transcribed. An attempt was made in the quoted materials to retain the validity of the essence and implications of the subjects' responses. The interviews were analyzed and compared for the purposes of the study. Charts appear in the appendices containing the responses of the subject to the interview questions. The charts following the conclusion of Chapter VI are (1) a comparison summary of the responses of the subjects in the four primary areas of concern in the study and (2) a comparative analysis of the choreographic processes of Alwin Nikolais, Murray Louis and Phyllis Lamhut.

CONCLUSIONS

The findings of the study indicate certain factors which are important to any choreographer and to the development of his/her choreographic abilities.

- 1. Identification and clarification of personal and aesthetic philosophies.
- 2. The personal and aesthetic philosophies of the choreographer serve as the basis of choreographic processes.
- 3. Identification of sources of motivation or ideas for works.
- 4. Development of the ability to analyze personal creative and choreographic skills.
- 5. Identification of evaluative criteria inherent in one's personal and aesthetic philosophies.
- 6. Exploration of diverse creative and choreographic processes.

IMPLICATIONS

The implications for further studies related to the choreographic process as indicated in the findings of the study are given in the following discussions. The findings indicate certain factors which are important to any choreographer and to the development of maturity in the choreographic process.

1. Methods of teaching students to identify and clarify their personal and aesthetic philosophies as they

relate to dance must be devised. This information appears basic to the entire choreographic process.

- 2. Methods must be devised for identifying motivational sources for ideas or works that develop out of one's own philosophies.
- 3. Methods for developing evaluative criteria inherent in one's own personal and aesthetic philosophies must be developed and their application supervised in some predetermined learning situation if the choreographer is to learn rather than achieve this ability through experience.

In conclusion, the implications for further study should serve as a means of refining creative information into a method for specific application to the choreographic process that will enable the choreographer to develop his skills and abilities through some method other than experience.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

A. Books

- 1. Anderson, Harold H. ed. <u>Creativity and Its Cultivation</u>. New York: Harper & Row Publishers, 1959.
- 2. Arnheim, Rudolf. Art and Visual Perception. Berkely: University of California Press, 1954.
- 3. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

 Perceiving, Behaving, and Becoming. 1962 Yearbook.

 Washington, D. C.: A.S.C.D., 1962.
- 4. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

 To Nurture Humaneness. 1970 Yearbook. Washington,
 D. C.: A.S.C.D., 1970.
- 5. Barker, Virgil. From Realism to Reality in Recent
 American Painting. Lincoln, Nebraska: University
 of Nebraska Press, 1959.
- 6. Battcock, Gregory ed. <u>Minimal Art: A Critical Anthology</u>. New York: E. P. Dutton and Company, Inc., 1968.
- 7. Berman, Louis M. <u>New Priorities in the Curriculum</u>.

 Columbus: Charles L. Merrill Publishing Company,
 1968.
- 8. Bloom, Benjamine ed. <u>Taxonomy of Educational Objectives:</u>
 <u>The Classification of Educational Goals, Handbook I:</u>
 <u>Cognitive Domain.</u> New York: David McKay Company,
 Inc., 1956.
- 9. Brittain, W. Lambert ed. <u>Creativity and Art Education</u>.

 Report of a symposium on studies and research in art education and creativity sponsored by the National Art Educators Association. Washington:

 National Art Educators Association, 1964.
- 10. Bruner, Jerome S. <u>Essays of the Left Hand</u>. Cambridge: The Belknap Press, Harvard University Press, 1962.
- 11. Bruner, Jerome S. <u>The Process of Education</u>. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1962.

- 12. Bruner, Jerome S. <u>Toward a Theory of Instruction</u>. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1966.
- 13. Cage, John. <u>Silence</u>. Middletown, Connecticut: Wesleyan University Press, 1969.
- 14. Cheney, Gay and Janet Strader. Modern Dance. Boston: Allyn and Bacon, Inc., 1969.
- 15. Clay, James H. and Daniel Krempel. The Theatrical Image.
 New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1967.
- 16. Cobb, Stanwood. The Importance of Creativity. Metuchen, N. J.: The Scarecrow Press, Inc., 1967.
- 17. Cohen, Selma Jean ed. <u>Dance as a Theatre Art</u>. New York: Dodd, Mead & Company, 1974, 113-224.
- 18. Cohen, Selma Jean ed. The Modern Dance: Seven Statements of Bolief. Middletown, Connecticut: Wesleyan University Press, 1965.
- 19. Cunningham, Merce. <u>Changes: Notes on Choreography</u>.

 New York: Something Else Press, 1972.
- 20. Ellfeldt, Lois. A Primer for Choreographers. Palo Alto, California: National Press Books, 1967.
- 21. Eustis, Morton. Players at Work. New York: Theatre Arts Books, 1937.
- 22. Gassner, John. Theatre at the Crossroads. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1960.
- 23. Hansen, Al. A Primer of Happenings and Time-Space Art.

 New York: Something Else Press, Inc., 1965.
- 24. Hawkins, Alma M. <u>Creating Through Dance</u>. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1964.
- 25. Hayes, Elizabeth R. An Introduction to the Teaching of Dance. New York: The Ronald Press Company, 1964.
- 26. H'Doubler, Margaret. <u>Dance, A Creative Art Experience</u>.

 Madison: The University of Wisconsin Press, 1959.
- 27. Helmstadter, G. C. <u>Research Concepts in Human Behavior</u>:

 <u>Education</u>, <u>Psychology</u>, <u>Sociology</u>. New York:

 <u>Appleton-Century-Crofts</u>, <u>Meredith Corporation</u>, 1970.
- 28. Horst, Louis. <u>Pre-Classic Dance Forms</u>. New York: Kamin Dance Publishers, 1960.

- 29. Horst, Louis and Carroll Russell. Modern Dance Forms in Relation to the Other Modern Arts. Palo Alto: Impulse Publications, 1961.
- 30. Humphrey, Doris. <u>The Art of Making Dances</u>. New York: Kamin Dance Publishers, 1960.
- 31. Jenkins, Iredell. Art and the Human Enterprise. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1958.
- 32. Kamarck, Edward ed. <u>Growth of Dance in America</u>. Vol. 13, No. 2 (Summer-Fall 1973). University of Wisconsin, 1976.
- 33. Kneller, George F. The Art and Science of Creativity.
 New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc., 1965.
- 34. Kostelanetz, Richard. The Theatre of Mixed Means. New York: The Dial Press, Inc., 1968.
- 35. Krathwohl, David ed. <u>Taxonomy of Educational Objectives:</u>

 <u>The Classification of Educational Goals. Handbook</u>

 <u>II: Affective Domain.</u> New York: David McKay

 Company, Inc., 1964.
- 36. Kraus, Richard. <u>History of the Dance</u>. Englewood Cliffs, N. J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1969.
- 37. Kuh, Katherine. <u>The Open Eye</u>. New York: Harper and Row Publishers, 1971.
- 38. Laban, Rudolf. The Mastery of Movement. 2d ed. London: Macdonald and Evans, Ltd., 1971.
- 39. Laban, Rudolf. Modern Educational Dance. 2d ed. Lisa
 Ullman ed. London: Macdonald and Evans, Ltd., 1963.
- 40. Langer, Susanne K. Feeling and Form: A Theory of Art Developed from Philosophy in a New Key. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons (SL 122 Lyceum Editions) 1953.
- 41. Langer, Susanne K. Philosophy In A New Key: A Study in the Symbolism of Reason, Rite, and Art. 3d ed. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, (HP17) 1956.
- 42. Langer, Susanne K. <u>Problems of Art</u>. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons (SL35) 1957.
- 43. Lockhart, Aileen and Esther E. Pease. <u>Modern Dance</u>:

 <u>Building and Teaching Lessons</u>. 3d ed. Dubuque, Iowa:

 Wm. C. Brown Company Publishers, 1966.

- 44. Lowenfeld, Viktor and W. L. Brittain. <u>Creative and Mental Growth</u>. 5th ed. New York: MacMillan, 1964.
- 45. Martin, John. <u>John Martin's Book of the Dance</u>. New York: Tudor Publishing Company, 1963.
- 46. Maynard, Olga. American Modern Dancers: The Pioneers. Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1965.
- 47. McDonagh, Don. <u>The Complete Guide to Modern Dance</u>.

 Garden City, New York: Doubleday & Company, Inc.,
 1976.
- 48. McDonagh, Don. The Rise and Fall and Rise of Modern

 Dance. New York: Outerbridge & Dienstfrey, 1970.
- 49. McLuhan, Marshall. <u>Verbi-Voco-Visual Explorations</u>. New York: Something Else Press, Inc., 1967.
- 50. Merton, Robert K., Marjorie Fiske, and Patricia Kendall.

 The Focused Interview. Glencoe, Illinois: The
 Free Press, 1956.
- 51. Mooney, Ross L. and Taher A. Razik. <u>Explorations in</u> Creativity. New York: Harper & Row, 1967.
- 52. Murray, Ruth Lovell. <u>Dance in Elementary Education</u>.

 2d ed. New York: Harper and Row, Publishers, 1963.
- 53. Otto, Herbert A. ed. <u>Explorations in Human Potential-ities</u>. Springfield, Illinois: Charles C. Thomas, Publisher, 1966.
- 54. Percival, John. Experimental Dance. New York: Universe Books, 1971.
- 55. Robertson, Bryan. <u>Jackson Pollock</u>. New York: Henry N. Abrams, Inc., 1960.
- 56. Rosner, Stanley and Lawrence E. Abt eds. <u>The Creative</u>
 <u>Experience</u>. New York: Grossman Publishers, 1970.
- 57. Russell, Joan. <u>Creative Dance in the Primary School</u>. London: Macdonald & Evans, Ltd., 1965.
- 58. Schaeffer-Simmern, Henry. The Unfolding of Artistic
 Activity. Berkeley: University of California, 1961.
- 59. Schlemmer, Oskar, et al. The Theater of the Bauhaus. Walter Gropius ed. Arthur S. Wensinger (translator). Middletown, Conn.: Wesleyan University Press, 1961.

- 60. Sheely, Emma D. <u>Children Discover Music and Dance</u>. New York: Henry Holt & Co., Inc., 1959.
- 61. Siegel, Marcia B. At the Vanishing Point. New York: Saturday Review Press, 1972.
- 62. Simon, Julian L. <u>Basic Research Methods in Social</u>
 Science: The Art of Empirical Investigation. New York: Random House, Inc., 1969.
- 63. Sjoberg, Gideon and Roger Nett. A Methodology for Social Research. New York: Harper & Row, Publishers, 1968.
- 64. Sontag, Susan. Against Interpretation and Other Essays.

 New York: The Noonday Press, 1961.
- 65. Spolin, Viola. <u>Improvization for Theater</u>. Northwestern University Press, 1969.
- 66. Stein, Morris I. Stimulating Creativity: Volume I

 Individual Procedures. New York: Academic Press,
 A Subsidiary of Harcourt Brace Javanovich, Publishers,
 1974.
- 67. Tomas, Vincent ed. <u>Creativity in the Arts</u>. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc., Contemporary Perspectives in Philosophy Series, 1964.
- 68. Turner, Margery J. Modern Dance for High School and College. Englewood Cliffs, N. J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1957.
- 69. Turner, Margery J. New Dance: Nonliteral Approaches to Choreograph. Pittsburgh: The University of Pittsburgh Press, 1971.
- 70. Wellwarth, George. <u>The Theater of Protest and Paradox:</u>
 <u>Developments in the Avant-Garde Drama</u>. New York:
 New York University Press, 1964.
- 71. Wiggins, Jerry S. <u>Personality and Prediction: Principles</u>
 of Assessment. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley
 Publishing Company, 1973.
- 72. Williams, Emmett ed. An Anthology of Concrete Poetry.
 New York: Something Else Press, Inc., 1967.

B. Periodicals

- 73. Anderson, Jack. "Phyllis Lamhut: Bored with Two Feet and the Same Old Body." <u>Dance Magazine</u>, February, 1975.
- 74. Borek, Tom. "The Connecticut College American Dance Festival 1948-1972," <u>Dance Perspectives 50</u>, Summer, 1972.
- 75. Brittain, W. Lambert and Kenneth R. Beittel. "Analyses of Levels of Creative Performances in the Visual Arts," Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism, Fall, 1960.
- 76. Brustein, Robert. "New Theater, New Politics?" <u>New York Times</u>, August 25, 1968.
- 77. Cohen, Selma Jean.

 <u>Dance Perspectives</u> 29, Spring, 1967.
- 78. Constable, Rosalind. "New York's Avant Garde, and How It Got There," The New York Herald Tribune, May 17, 1964.
- 79. Copeland, Roger. "A Conversation with Alwin Nikolais," Dance Scope, Fall/Winter, 1973-74.
- 80. Dell, William C. "A Workshop in Dramatic Art: Purpose and Plan," <u>The Speech Teacher</u>, March, 1966.
- 81. Denby, Edwin. "Time to Walk in Space," <u>Dance Perspectives</u> 34, Winter, 1968.
- 82. Devline, Sandra. "Alwin Nikolais," <u>Craft Horizons</u>, May, 1968.
- 83. Eames, Marian. "Avant-Garde Dancers," <u>Dance Magazine</u>, October, 1968.
- 84. Fatt, Amelia. "Murray Louis in St. Louis," <u>Dance Magazine</u>, March, 1968.
- 85. Fisher, Thomas L. "The Dramatic Art Workshops: Art or Therapy?" The Speech Teacher, April, 1966.
- 86. Fitzgerald, Frances. "Where Are We? Reports from the Undogmatic Establishment," The New York Herald Tribune, May 17, 1964.

- 87. Gale, Joseph. "The Grand Tours: A Year with Murray and Nik," <u>Dance Magazine</u>, February, 1973.
- 88. Genauer, Emily. "The Most Avant of All," <u>The New York Herald Tribune</u>, May 17, 1964.
- 89. Guilford, J. P. "Creative Activities in the Arts,"

 <u>Psychology Review</u>, Vol. 64, 1957.
- 90. Guilford, J. P. "Creativity," American Psychologist, Vol. 5, 1950.
- 91. Gutman, Herbert. "The Biological Roots of Creativity,"
 Genetic Psychology Monographs, 1961.
- 92. Hering, Doris. "A Kind of Absolute," <u>Dance Perspectives</u>
 <u>I</u>, Fall, 1963.
- 93. Hering, Doris. "Murray Louis and Company," <u>Dance</u>
 <u>Magazine</u>, January, 1962.
- 94. Hering, Doris. "Murray Louis and Company Henry Street Playhouse Nov. 20-22; Dec. 4-6, 1964," <u>Dance Magazine</u>, February, 1965.
- 95. Hering, Doris. "Paul Taylor Dance Company," <u>Dance Magazine</u>, January, 1962.
- 96. Hering, Doris. "Pearl Lang," <u>Dance Magazine</u>, January, 1962.
- 97. Hering, Doris. "The Dance," <u>Theatre Crafts</u>, September, 1973.
- 98. Hering, Doris. "The Lonely Mosaic," <u>Theatre Crafts</u>, September, 1973.
- 99. Hughes, Allen. "Paul Taylor: Dance or Dada?" <u>Dance</u>
 <u>Magazine</u>, January, 1962.
- 100. Hughes, Helen E. "Creativity in Women," <u>The American Association of University Women Journal</u>, November, 1976.
- 101. Kostelanetz, Richard. "Metamorphosis in Modern Dance," <u>Dance Scope</u>, Fall, 1970.
- 102. Kroll, Jack. "Lurch, Lean, Walk, Waddle," <u>Newsweek</u>, April 3, 1967.
- 103. McDonagh, Don. "Miss Lamhut Gives a Frolic in Dance in 'Country Music,'" The New York Times, April 27, 1975.

- 104. Mooney, Ross L. "A Conceptual Model for Integrating Four Approaches to the Identification of Creative Talent,"

 In C. W. Taylor & F. Barron, Scientific Creativity:

 Its Recognition and Development. New York: Wiley,

 1963.
- 105. Nikolais, Alwin. "Basic Dance and Sensory Perception,"

 <u>Dance Observer</u>, January, 1964.
- 106. Nikolais, Alwin. "Growth of a Theme," <u>Dance Magazine</u>, February, 1961.
- 107. Siegel, Marcia B. "Nik: A Documentary," <u>Dance Perspectives</u> 48, Winter 1971.
- 108. Siegel, Marcia B. "The Omniloquence of Alwin Nikolais,"
 Dance Magazine, April, 1968.
- 109. Smith, Nancy W. "A Statement of Philosophy," <u>Designs</u> for <u>Dance</u>. Washington: American Association for Health, Physical Education and Recreation, 1969.
- 110. Terry, Walter. "So What Else Is New?" The New York Herald Tribune, May 17, 1964.
- 111. Tobias, Tobi. "Nikolais and Louis: A New Space," <u>Dance Magazine</u>, February, 1971.

C. Dissertations

- 112. Andreasen, Lois E. "A Biography of Walter Terry with Emphasis Upon His Professional Career and His Contributions to the Field of Dance." Unpublished PhD dissertation. Texas Woman's University, 1971.
- 113. Byrum, Mary Carolyn. "An Analysis of Three Non-Objective Choreographic Techniques." Unpublished EdD dissertation. The University of North Carolina at Greensboro, 1976.
- 114. Gray, Winston. "The Dance Theatre of Alwin Nikolais."
 Unpublished PhD dissertation. University of Utah,
 1967.
- 115. Rowe, Patricia. "Identification of the Domain of Modern Dance Choreography As An Aesthetic Discipline."

 Unpublished PhD dissertation. Stanford University, 1966.

D. Dictionaries and Encyclopedias

- 116. Chujoy, Anatole, and P. W. Manchester. <u>The Dance</u> Encyclopedia. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1967.
- 117. Read, Herbert, ed. <u>Encyclopedia of the Arts</u>. New York: Meredith Press, 1966.
- 118. Webster, A. Merriam. Webster's Seventh New Collegiate

 <u>Dictionary</u>. Springfield, Mass.: G. & C. Merriam
 Company, Publishers. 1963.

E. Interviews

- 119. Personal Interview with Phyllis Lamhut, 225 West Seventyfirst Street, New York, New York, conducted by the investigator on December 31, 1976.
- 120. Personal Interview with Murray Louis, 33 East Eighteenth Street, New York, New York, conducted by the investigator on December 30, 1976.
- 121. Personal Interview with Alwin Nikolais, 33 East Eighteenth Street, New York, New York, conducted by the investigator on December 30, 1976.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Alwin Nikolais' Responses to Basic Questions

ALWIN NIKOLAIS' RESPONSES TO BASIC QUESTIONS

I. MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY

A. Need for artistic expression.

Creating is a habit for me. I feel a need to communicate aesthetically.

- B. Need to express personal and aesthetic philosophy.
 - 1. Personal philosophy.

Man is a fellow traveller within the total universal mechanism rather than a god from which all things flow. Man is a kinsman to the universe. Man is a part of the total universe.

2. Aesthetic philosophy.

The dancer must subdue himself as an individual and becomes greater by becoming a part of a much greater thing.

Aesthetic communication takes place through motion or in terms of abstract theatre the way I do it. As art - dance is the art of motion, not movement. To me motion is primary; it is the condition of motion which culminates in emotion.

II. CREATIVE PROCESS

A. Source of ideas or subject matter resulting in content of the dance.

I might just be walking through nature and I'll see something that will make a connection with my Rorschach and bring me to an association which has been there all the time or [an association which] has been fed from a variety of sources. But that [particular time I see it] is the thing that causes it to take action.

B. Preparation for the creative process.

I very often go [into the studio to create a work] with very limited thought in my conscious mind of what I am going to do. Of course in multimedia work I have to set up some things prior to my going to rehearsal. So I will somehow or other sense that somewhere within me I am concerned with a particular kind of environment.

I will try to make that visible through some mockup of mockup slides which will be projected at, on, or around, the dancers. I'll have costumers and technical crew come in and we'll put costumes on the dancers that will perhaps work and within the technical operatives that I have set I will have the dancers move. Sometimes I direct it and show the dancers very specifically what I want. Other times I'll say, "Here is the environment. Will you please improvise within it so that I can see what will happen?"

C. Factors determining structure.

The structure of the piece of course depends upon the content of it and whether the content has been evidently satisfied.

The process is involved in the identity of the thing. Once the thing gives an identity, then it becomes the master and you have to make sure you don't paw over it too much. Because it is the thing. I

very often find myself saying,
"It wants to do this," not, "I
want to do this." It is like a
child, you guide its character
. . . you have to have faith in
its inherent moralities. . . .
It's like a conversation, you
know when you have said it. I
have enough faith in the mental
process, of the orderliness of
it, to know that if I allow it
to come out freely it will be
coherent.

Technology has changed my structure.

D. Factors determining movement.

I'll set up some technical operatives, bring in technical people and costumers, and put costumes that will perhaps work on the dancers, and then we start to move.

Sometimes I will direct it specifically and show the dancers exactly what I want. Other times I will say, "Here is the environment. Will you please improvise within it so I can see what happens."

Dance is the art of motion, not movement. Motion is primary; it is the condition of motion which culminates in emotion.

E. Meeting Deadlines.

Nikolais states that he works on a time schedule in order to complete his works on time. This time schedule forces him to complete a designated number of minutes in a work per day.

F. Steps or sequence of the process.

I very often go [into the studio to create a work] with very limited

thought in my conscious mind of what I am going to do. Of course, in multimedia work I will have to set up some things prior to my going into rehearsal. . . . put costumes that will perhaps work. . . . Then we start to move . . . Then if something happens or it begins to speak back to me, then I know it will speak to an audience.

At the moment the thing begins to take form I let it ride. With my dancers there is definite feedback. I can manipulate their feedback into a structure and into part of a piece.

It isn't a re-creation; it is a creation. So the process is to allow it to come out. I, in effect, just spew, spew, spew, and then try afterwards to try to put it in order and make sense of that outpouring. I have enough faith in the orderliness of the mental process to know that if I allow it to come out freely it will be coherent. So the process is to allow it to come out.

III. USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

A. Creative contributions by dancers.

I'll ask the dancers to improvise within an environment so I can see what happens. With my dancers there is definite feedback. I can manipulate that feedback into a structure and into part of a piece. My dancers are taught to improvise and to react to environmental change, dynamic change, . . . so that they give back very generously. This enables us to create special roles for special dancers too, which proves to their advantage

because they come up with stylistic behaviorisms that let's say speak a little more eloquently of them than one imposed upon them from another mind. A modern dance [choreographer] depends a great deal upon the feedback from the dancer.

B. Other contributions by dancers.

The dancer must subdue himself as an individual and becomes greater by becoming a part of a much greater thing. Man must function within the total environment as a vital part of the universal totality.

IV. EVALUATION

A. By the choreographer.

The identity of the thing becomes the master.

Each step of the way must be challenged aesthetically as to whether or not it was the correct way.

It must speak to me; otherwise it will speak to no one. To me art is a form of aesthetic communication. Creating a piece is like a conversation. You know when you have said it.... you have to make sure that you've said it because it is abstract. You have to have a sense of when it's been said.

B. Artistic responsibility.

I will frequently call the dancers and have the other dancers watch and I will get their reactions. And, of course, Murray and I will look at each other's works also and give out reactions to each other and that's pretty valuable.

C. Critics' and audience reactions.

Critics' opinions I almost never regard. I rarely read reviews written about me. If I listened to critics, I would stop doing many of the abstract expressions which actually make the substance of what I am with my mode of communication. So, of course, I can't listen to it, even though I might respect the person.

As a performer you always have a fortification of the work or an affirmation of it based on its acceptance by audiences. I have been fortunate in that I've played to all sorts of ethnic groups all over the world. So if a thing works here, and it works in Japan, and it works in Tunisia, and it works in Taipei, or Paris, then there must be something that I am doing right.

APPENDIX B

Murray Louis' Responses to Basic Questions

MURRAY LOUIS' RESPONSES TO BASIC QUESTIONS

I. MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY

A. Need for artistic expression.

Creating is a compulsion for me. I feel the need to communicate aesthetically. I find I have very few other ways of coming into the world except through my art.

- B. Need to express personal and aesthetic philosophy.
 - 1. Personal philosophy.

The universe is communicated to man through man.

2. Aesthetic philosophy.

I am concerned with illumination, with insights, with a kind of poetry versus prose. I have always been a dancer, and I know how much a dancer can do. I also know how the little things the dancer does have a very direct way of getting into an audience. I try to work through the audience rather than awing them to acceptance.

I can reveal ideas to other people through a structure called a dance.

Each work has its own identity. I stay with the thing I want the audience to see. I know how I am going to direct that audience. I always have to know how my dances are communicating through the dancer's instrument. I work from the stage out.

Dancers serve as a conduit through which the universe is communicated to man.

I am very concerned with illumination, and insights, communication through dance.

II. CREATIVE PROCESS

A. Source of ideas or subject matter resulting in content of the dance.

The stimulation for a new dance comes from all sorts of places, from a pedestrian, from the teacher me, from the dancer me, from the creative me. They come through visual stimulation. teaching a class the clarification of what I am doing wrong can be the motivation for a new dance. keep open to ideas for new dances and when they occur I consciously nail them. Within each work the germinal seed for the next work is being formed. I let myself go with it far enough to see it; then I go back to the work I am doing at the time.

B. Preparation for the creative process.

When I work I have a premise. I stay with the premise. That is what leads me into how I direct it. I stay with what I want the audience to see.

I don't start choreographing [movement] until I begin the dance, until I'm in the mood. I don't plan anything. I just become imbued with the area and the nature of what I am going to do. I just open the flood gates and then "it" happens.

C. Factors determining structure.

Form has to do with my own inner lyricism.

Form is passed on; form is inherited in the human body. It is a

genetic thing. Nik calls it balance. There is within the human body a sense of continence when a thing is right, and the human body intuitively orders itself towards that. Especially in creators there is the sense of what the form for a particular thing should be. It is a sense of form.

I imbue myself with the area and nature of the thing I'm going to do. Then I just open the flood gates and then it happens. I let it flow and I just sneak it through. I demonstrate which way it wants to go.

Each work has its own identity.
That is what leads me into how I direct it. I stay with its premise.
I stay with the thing that I want the audience to see. I know how I am going to direct that audience.
Through years of improvising I have learned to understand the intuitive decisions. When a phrase says, dum bump, it says it is finished.

D. Factors determining movement.

I have no preparation for what the steps may be until I get inside the thing. When I choreograph I am an amazing kind of schizophrenic machine. I talk to myself. I let it [the dance movement] flow. I demonstrate which way it wants to go. I use the dancer me to create the steps that the choreographer me is doing. I do this talking to myself and the follow-the-leader kind of process right there in the studio with my dancers watching and listening.

I create pretty much everything [in a piece]. [Sometimes] I just give my dancers the steps and many times the dynamics, and perhaps the energy necessary, and I see

what they can do. Or if I come to special things where I know some kids can do extraordinary leaps or falls or extensions, I just talk those out. I say, "Here I want this kind of fall. You work it out." On the whole, I pretty much set things.

I don't work through improvisation with my material.

E. Meeting deadlines.

I have learned that this business of finishing a work ten minutes before it is to be performed is unprofessional. It does not do justice to the work.

I simply don't work under the horrible stress of deadlines any more.

F. Steps or sequence of the process.

I don't start choreographing [movement] until I begin the dance, until I'm in the mood. don't plan anything. I just become imbued with the area and the nature of what I am going to do. I just open the flood gates and then it happens. I let it flow and I just sneak it through very quickly. I have no preparation for what the steps may be until I get inside the thing. When I choreograph I am an amazing kind of schizophrenic machine. talk to myself. I let it | the dance movement | flow. I demonstrate which way it wants to go. I use the dancer m∈ to create the steps that the choreographer me is doing. I do this talking to myself and the follow-theleader kind of process right there in the studio with my dancers watching and listening.

I create pretty much everything [in a piece]. |Sometimes | I just give my dancers the steps and many times the dynamics and perhaps the energy necessary, and I see what they can do. Or if I come to special things where I know some kids can do extraordinary leaps or falls or extensions, I just talk those out. I say, "Here I want this kind of fall. You work it out." On the whole, I pretty much set things. work through improvisation with my material.

III. USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

A. Creative contributions by dancers.

I create pretty much everything [in a piece]. [Sometimes] I just give my dancers the steps and many times the dynamics and perhaps the energy necessary, and I see what they can do. Or if I come to special things where I know some kids can do extraordinary leaps or falls or extensions, I just talk those out. I say, "Here I want this kind of fall. You work it out." My dancers are trained in improvisation. They lend so much.

B. Other contributions by dancers.

What I ask from my dancers is performance and to that performance they have to bring the skills of performing. Their duty is to do transitions, dynamics, and quality.

IV. EVALUATION

A. By the choreographer.

I am the choreographer whose concern is his aesthetic judgement and his ability to structure movement. I must evaluate my work from the stage out because I am a dancer.

When I see something wrong in a piece I intuitively sense that it is wrong.

I try very hard to compose a piece as early as I can. I have to get away from it, and the evaluations have to be on another level. In the heat of my work, of my working process and in the heat of my irritations I cannot evaluate it [the piece]. I must divorce myself from all that and see it openly and directly. And it takes a little bit of time to get away from it.

B. Artistic responsibility.

The only person, other than myself, whose aesthetic judgement I even consider is Nik. Nik because he knows what I'm doing.

C. Critics' and audience reactions.

A critic is never important enough to make you change anything.

I choreograph for my audiences really, because dance is a performing art. I know how I am going to direct that audience into its response. I have to get away from a piece and look at it to tell how the audience is going to react. I have to go it alone.

This business of finishing a work ten minutes before it is to be performed is unprofessional.

APPENDIX C

Phyllis Lamhut's Responses to Basic Questions

PHYLLIS LAMHUT'S RESPONSES TO BASIC QUESTIONS

I. MOTIVATION FOR CHOREOGRAPHY

A. Need for artistic expression.

I create because it is a part of my nature.

I feel the need to create.

- B. Need to express personal and aesthetic philosophy.
 - 1. Personal philosophy.

I see life in a comic-tragic way. There are dances of death in everything I do.

I am stimulated by everything around me, and I try to give it my point of view and hope that I enrich what I do in relation to the audience.

2. Aesthetic philosophy.

I choreograph to stimulate the awareness of the audience to what I am doing. I just communicate very directly.

I want the audience to have a kinetic and aesthetic stimulation when they see my work.

The humor must be intrinsic in the movement.

II. CREATIVE PROCESS

A. Source of ideas or subject matter resulting in content of the dance.

I am usually motivated by everything around me, nature, life, whatever. For me the motivation

is very versatile. Sometimes it starts with a musical inspiration, sometimes with a motional inspiration, sometimes it starts through a vision that I have of an idea, not necessarily have [in concrete terms], but with some kind of idea that I have emotionally in my soul and I try to get it out.

B. Preparation for the creative process.

I very rarely define specifically what I am going to be doing.

I always seem to move with some sort of space [in mind] -- air, for example--where a dance in the creative process can grow.

C. Factors determining structure.

The intuition, the "X factor," the artistic "X factors," all of these things are involved [in creating a work]. Everything I know and experience goes into practical application.

D. Factors determining movement.

I always seem to move with some sort of space [in mind]--air, for example--where a dance in the creative process can grow.

I usually have a lot to say and a lot to do and then when I get stuck I ask them [my dancers], "What should I do next?"

Sometimes I ask them and sometimes I don't. I work freely.

E. Meeting deadlines.

You usually have a deadline for performing a work so the work has to be ready. I've always pushed through to meet performances, and lately I've been trying to

preview out of town the things I've
pushed through earlier than I expect.

F. Steps or sequence of the process.

I very rarely define specifically what I am going to be doing. I always seem to move with some sort of space [in mind] . . . where a dance in the creative process can grow.

I do allow input by my dancers when I am choreographing. I usually have a lot to say, and a lot to do and then when I get stuck I ask them, "What should I do next?"

Sometimes I ask them and sometimes I don't. I work freely.

I have a sort of process that I think about when I get stuck . . . What is the form of it? Is the form right? Am I structurally interesting? . . .

Sometimes the push for process completion is very important because then it [the work] becomes alive and you are happy and you know what you have. You can always go back and fix it if you don't like what you have.

Once I state it, I think I'm pretty clear.

. . . I ask myself: What is the nature of the dance? Is it what I started out to make it become or is it something else?

III. USE AND FUNCTION OF THE DANCERS

A. Creative contributions by dancers.

I do allow input by my dancers when I am choreographing. When I get stuck I ask them, "What

should I do next?" Sometimes I ask them and sometimes I don't. I do not need, as an area of source, help from the dancers. But I do ask them. I do not ask them too often.

. . . it is important for the dancer to be trained creatively as well as technically.

I always like to finish the work early enough so my dancers can involve themselves in it and there are not the last minute changes to make. Although I really don't change too much, I change certain things that I don't like.

B. Other contributions by dancers.

The better dancer is the dancer who has more to him than his physical [technical] ability. He has to have feeling for the movement, feeling for the creative idea, feeling for the choreography, and a feeling for improvisation.

IV. EVALUATION

A. By the choreographer.

I do something and then I evaluate. I think about certain rules and regulations: What have I done? What haven't I done? What does it need now? What doesn't it need? Where is the dynamic flow? What do I want to do spatially? . . . What is the nature of the dance? Which turn is it taking? Is it what I started out to make it become, or is it something else? What is that something else?

Sometimes I'll say, "Well, it's not going very well today, or it

is going well, or it's not this or that, or what it is. I can remove myself from it and then deal with it as I see it after I leave it.

And then how to get to the point, to know when it is good and when it is not good, is also very painful. You need a lot of experience.

. . . While I'm working I look into it. While I'm making it I'm usually into it. Then I pull myself out of it to look at it and see. This is all done psychically.

B. Artistic responsibility.

I do try to preview my works out of the city. Because then I'm playing for audiences and the dancers have the experience of performing out of the rehearsal studio in the real situation. When we come back we can see what it was--what it felt like and how people responded to it. It's a test.

C. Critics' and audience reactions.

I do try to preview my works out of the city. Because then I'm playing for audiences and the dancers have the experience of performing out of the rehearsal studio in the real situation. When we come back we can see what it was--what it felt like and how people responded to it. It's a test.